# Seed germination patterns of some Asteraceae species from two regions with contrasting precipitation in north-central Nepal



A Dissertation Submitted for the Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master's Degree in Science, Central Department of Botany, Institute of Science and Technology, Tribhuvan University

## Submitted by:

Sarada Dhakal

Exam Roll No.: Bot. 804/076

T.U. Regd. No.: 5-2-50-207-2015

Batch: 2076/078

Ecology and Resource Management Unit

Central Department of Botany

Institute of Science and Technology

Tribhuvan University, Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal

September, 2023

#### DECLARATION

L Sarada Dhakal, hereby declare that this dissertation entitled "Seed germination patterns of some Asteraceae species from two regions with contrasting precipitation in north-central Nepal" which is being submitted to the Central Department of Botany, Institute of Science and Technology, Tribhuvan University, Nepal for the award of degree of Master of Science in Botany is research carried out by me under the supervision of Associate Professor Dr. Anjana Devkota and co-supervisor Professor Dr. Bharat Babu Shrestha. The information acquired from the published and unpublished work of others has been acknowledged in the text. Further, a list of references has been given at the end of the thesis. In the sense, this research is original and genuine, and has not been submitted earlier partially, fully, or in any other form to any university or institute here or elsewhere, for the reward of any degree.

i



Sarada Dhakal Central Department of Botany Tribhuvan University Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal Date: September 17, 2023



Kirtipur, Kathmandu NEPAL

#### LETTER OF RECOMMENDATION

This is to certify Ms. Sarada Dhakal has completed this thesis dissertation work entitled Seed germination patterns of some Asteraceae species from two regions with contrasting precipitation in north-central Nepal" under our supervision. The results of this dissertation have not been been presented or submitted anywhere else for the academic degree. It is hereby recommended for the acceptance of this dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the Master's Degree in Botany at the Institute of Science and Technology, Tribhuvan University, Kathmandu, Nepal.

Supervisor

Dr. Anjana Devkota Associate Professor Central Department of Botany **Tribhuvan** University Kathmandu Nepal

SUrealthe

Co supervisor Dr. Bharat Babu Shrestha Professor Central Department of Botany Tribhuvan University Kathmandu Nepal

Date: September 17, 2023



#### LETTER OF APPROVAL

The M.Sc. dissertation entitled as "Seed germination patterns of some Asteraceae species from two regions with contrasting precipitation in north-central Nepal" submitted at the Central Department of Botany, Tribhuvan University by Ms. Sarada Dhakal has been accepted for the partial fulfillment of her Master's Degree in Botany (Ecology and Resource Management).

External Examiner Dr. Som Prasad Paudyal Associate Professor Tri-Chandra Multiple Campus, TU

Supervisor Dr. Anjana Devkota Associate Professor Central Department of Botany, TU

**EXAMINATION COMMITTEE** 

Internal Examiner Dr. Yadav Uprety Associate Professor Central Department of Botany, TU

Co supervisor Dr. Bharat Babu Shrestha Professor Central Department of Botany, TU

Head of Department Dr. Sangeeta Rajbhandary Professor Central Department of Botany, TU Date: 3<sup>rd</sup> October, 2023

iii

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deep sense of gratitude towards my supervisor Assoc. Prof. Anjana Devkota for her continuous support and guidance throughout my dissertation work. I am indebted to my co-supervisor Prof. Bharat Babu Shrestha for his valuable suggestion and supervision throughout my research work. I want to heartily thank Asst. Prof. Dr Achyut Tiwari, Dr Baburam Poudel and Dr. Uttam Babu Shrestha for their guidance and inspiration. This work has been financially supported by a Collaborative Research Grant (Impacts of climate change on germination, growth, pollination and distribution of Himalayan medicinal herbs *Aconitum spicatum* and *Aconitum naviculare*; grant no. CRG 77/78-S&T-1) from the University Grant Commission (UGC) of Nepal. Some material supports (expendable laboratory materials) were also obtained from a research project funded by the The World Academy of Sciences (TWAS), Italy (grant no. 20-269 RG/BIO/AS\_G).

It is my pleasure to express warm thanks to **Prof. Dr. Sangeeta Rajbhandary**, Head of the Central Department of Botany and **Prof. Dr. Ram Kailash Prasad Yadav**, Former Head of the Central Department of Botany, for their administrative and moral support. I would like to express special thanks to all the department staffs and the university community for their cooperation and healthy interaction with all my work. I want to thanks to **National Herbarium and Plant Laboratories (KATH)**, **Hem Raj Paudel** and **Prof. Suresh Kumar Ghimire** for assisting me during the identification of my recorded and collected herbarium specimens. I am thankful to my seniors Sarita Dhakal, Aaditya Dhital, Tulasa Chaudhary, Shanti Ranabhat, Asmita Shrestha, Anuj Dangol, Hemanti Airi and Nisha Kharel for extending helping hands during my thesis work. I am also thankful to my classmate Bishnu Sharma Gaire, Prativa Masrangi, Sangita Basyal, Sandesh Ghimire for seed collection and help in the laboratories. I am also thankful to Pooja Gautam, Sadikshya Khanal, Kiran Tiwari, Manisha Ghimire, Mahendra Thapa, Sushil Poudel and Samikshya Acharya for their constant encouragement and cooperation.

For all the support I wish to express heartfelt gratitude to my family.

Sarada Dhakal

Thank you!

Contents	Page
DECLARATION	i
LETTER OF RECOMMENDATION	ii
LETTEROF APPROVAL	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF APPENDICES	x
PHOTOPLATES	X
ABBREVIATION AND ACRONYMS	xi
ABSTRACT	xii
CHAPTER 1INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1-3
1.2 Justification	3
1.3 Hypothesis	4
1.4 Objectives	4
1.5 Limitations	4
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1 Asteraceae of Nepal Himalaya	5-6
2.2 Seed traits of species from contrasting habitats	6-7
2.3 Seed size and mass of Asteraceae species	7-8
2.4 Seed germination patterns of Asteraceae species	8
2.4.1 Dormancy	9

# **Table of Content**

2.4.2 Light requirements	9-10
2.4.3 Effects of temperature	
2.4.4 Effect of water stress	12-13
2.5 Research Gap	13
CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	14
3.1 Species characteristics	14-16
3.2 Seed collection site	16-19
3.3 Seed collection and storage	19
3.4 Seed mass	19
3.5 Seed size	
3.6 Preliminary germination test	21
3.7 Germination test procedure	22-23
3.7.1 Effect of temperature and light	
3.7.2 Effect of water stress	23
3.8 Data Analysis	24
3.8.1 Germination pattern	24-25
3.8.2 Statistical Analysis	25
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	26
4.1 Seed Mass and seed size	26
4.2 Germination Pattern	26
4.2.1 Effect of light	
4.2.2 Effect of temperature	27-31
4.2.3 Effect of water stress	31-39
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	40

5.1 Seed Mass and seed size	40
5.2 Effect of temperature and light	40-43
5.3 Effect of water stress	43-45
CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	46
6.1 Conclusion	46
6.2 Recommendation	46
References	47-63
Appendices	64-68
Photo plates	69-70

# LIST OF FIGURES

Contents	Page
Figure 1: Study species	16
Figure 2: Seed collection site from Annapurna Conservation Area and Manang	18
Figure 3: Climate of A) Lumle and B) Humde graph	20
Figure 4: Seed collection and storage	21
Figure 5: Seed size measurement of studied species	22
Figure 6: Different stages of seed germination experiment	24
Figure 7: Germination Percentage (GP) (A) 12h Photoperiod and Dark under low (25/15°C) (B) Germination Percentage (GP) 12h Photoperiod and Dark under high (30/20°C) temperature	29
Figure 8: Effect of temperature on Germination percentage, Mean germination time and Timson's Index	30-31
Figure 9: Effect of water stress Germination Percentage (GP) under low temperature (25/15°C)	32
Figure 10: Effect of water stress Germination Percentage (GP) under high (30/20°C) temperature	33
Figure 11: : Effect of water stress Mean Germination Time (MGT) under low temperature (25/15°C)	34
Figure 12: Effect of water stress Mean Germination Time (MGT) under high (30/20°C) temperature	35
Figure 13: Effect of water stress Timson's Index (TI) under low temperature (25/15°C)	36
Figure 14: Effect of water stress Timson's Index (TI) under high (30/20°C) temperature	37

# LIST OF TABLES

Contents	Page
Table 1: Description of the study species	14-15
Table 2: Seed collection details of the study species	17
Table 3: Mean (±S.D) seed mass of study species	26
Table 4: Result of two-way ANOVA showing the effect of	
interactions of species and water potential (MPa) on Germination	38-39
percentage, Mean Germination Time (MGT) and Timson's Index (TI)	

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Contents	Page
Appendix 1: Effect of low temperature at 12h Photoperiod and dark on GP (Mean±S.E)	64
Appendix 2: Effect of high temperature at 12h photoperiod and Dark on GP (Mean±S.E)	64
Appendix 3: Effect of low temperature and High temperature on germination percentage (Mean±S.E)	65
Appendix 4: Effect of low temperature and High temperature on Mean Germination Time (Mean±S.E)	65
Appendix 5: Effect of low temperature and High temperature on Timson's Index (Mean±S.E)	66
Appendix 6: Effect of water stress on GP, MGT and TI different water potentials at low temperature (Mean $\pm$ S.E)	67
Appendix 7: Effect of water stress on GP, MGT and TI different water potentials at high temperature (Mean $\pm$ S.E)	68
Photo plate 1:	

Germination of seeds under 12hrs photoperiod and dark 69-70

# ABBREVIATION AND ACRONYMS

ACA	Annapurna Conservation Area
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
°C	Degree Centigrade
DNPWC	Department of National Parks and Wildlife Conservation
GP	Germination Percentage
m asl	meter above sea level
MGT	Mean Germnation Time
MPa	Mega Pascal
ND	Non-dormant Dormancy
PD	Physiological Dormancy
PEG 6000	Poly Ethylene Glycol 6000
SD	Standard Deviation
SE	Standard Error
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Sciences
TI	Timson's Index

#### ABSTRACT

Germination is an important seed feature connected to a species' regeneration niche, and it can influence the distribution and abundance of species in communities. The germination of seeds in plants is governed by several environmental processes, leading to less research about their growth, adaptation, and changes in their germination behavior influenced by climate change. Present study compared germination ecology of three species of Asteraceae from moist region (Cremanthodium reniforme, Dubyaea hispida, Synotis alata) and closely related three species from dry region (Cremanthodium arnicoides, Synotis penninervis and Taraxacum eriopodum of the Annapurna Conservation Area in north-central Nepal. Seeds were germinated under different light (12-h photoperiod and continuous dark), temperature (low: 25/15°C and high: 30/20°C) and water stress (0, -0.25, -0.5, -0.75 and -1 MPa) to determine germination percentage, Timson's index (germination rate) and mean germination time (MGT). Higher seed mass was found in Cremanthodium arnicoides and larger seed size was found in Dubyaea hispida. Seeds of all species germinated in both photoperiod and continuous dark condition. At low temperature and all levels of water stresses, Cremanthodium arnicoides and Synotis penninervis exhibited higher Germination Percentage (%), while Cremanthodium reniforme showed higher Mean Germination Time (MGT) and Taraxacum eriopodum had higher values for Timson's Index (TI). However, at high temperature significantly higher germination percentage was found in Dubyaea hispida and Synotis alata, higher MGT was found in Synotis penninervis and higher TI was found in Dubyaea hispida. No germination was recorded in five species below -0.5 MPa water potential but seeds of Cremanthodium arnicoides germinated up to -0.75 MPa. These finding give a clear indication about the germination traits of the species from wet and dry regions, while also providing a clear understanding about their germination patterns, survival of the plants, and effect of climate change.

Key words: Annapurna Conservation Area, Environmental tolerance, Himalaya precipitation gradient, Mean Germination Time, Timson's Index

# शारसं

बीउ अंकुरण स्थापनाको सबैभन्दा आधारभूत अवधि हो। यो एक अपरिवर्तनीय तथा जटिल प्रकिया हो। यस अध्ययको मुख्य उदेश्य भनेको नेपालको उत्तर मध्य भागमा रहेको अन्नपूर्ण संरक्षण क्षेत्रको ओसिलो भागमा पाइने Asteraceae को तीन प्रजातिहरु Cremanthodium reniforme, Dubyaea hispida, Synotis alata र यि प्रजातिसंग नजिकको सम्बन्ध रहेको सुख्खा क्षेत्रमा पाइने तीन प्रजाति Cremanthodium arnicoides, Synotis penninervis र Taraxacum eriopodum को अंकुरण परिस्थितिको भिन्नताबारे अध्ययन गर्नु हो। अंकुरण प्रतिशत, टिम्सन्स इन्डेक्स र औसत अंकुरण समय निर्धारण गर्न विभिन्न प्रकाश (१२ घन्टा Photoperiod र लगातार अध्यारो), तापक्रम कम (२५/१५°C) र उच्च (३०/२०°C) र water stress मा बीउ अंकुरित गरिएको थियो। उच्च बीउको मास Cremanthodium arnicoides र ठूलो बीउको आकार Dubyaea hispida मा पाइयो। सबै प्रजातिका बीउहरू Photoperiod र निरन्तर अध्यारो अवस्थामा अंकुरित भए। कम तापक्रम र सबै तहको water stress मा Cremanthodium arnicoides र Synotis penninervis ले उच्च अंकुरण प्रतिशत प्रदर्शन गर्यो । यध्यपी उच्च तापक्रममा Dubyaea hispida र Synotis alata मा उच्च अंकुरण प्रतिशत पाइयो। -0.5 MPa पानीको सम्भाव्यता भन्दा कम पाँच प्रजातिहरूमा कुनै अंकुरण रेकर्ड गरिएको थिएन तर Cremanthodium arnicoides को बीउहरू -0.75MPa सम्म अंकुरित भए। यी निष्कर्षहरूले ओसिलो र सुख्खा क्षेत्रहरूबाट प्रजातिहरूको अंकुरण विशेषताहरुको बारेमा स्पष्ट संकेत दिन्छ, साथै तिनीहरूको अंकुरण ढाचा र जलवायु परिवर्तनको प्रभावको बारेमा स्पष्ट बुझाइ प्रदान गर्दछ।

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background

Ecology of seeds is the study of how plants use various ecological techniques to ensure their ability to reproduce through seed. Seed ecology involve diverse strategies just like seed output period, mechanism of seed dispersal, environmental situations that access dormancy and activate germination, seed size and the component that impact successful seedling formation (Copeland and McDonald, 2001).

In the life cycle of the majority of plants, seed germination marks the change from the seed to seedling stages (Harper, 1977). Germination is an irreversible process that must be timed to take place when the conditions are right for following seedling establishment (Fenner and Thompson, 2005; Poschlod *et al.*, 2013). Two important abiotic factors such as temperature and water regulate seed germination (Walck *et al.*, 2011; Arana *et al.*, 2015). Temperature and water availability restrained the timing of seed germination (Briceno *et al.*, 2015). Further, germination can be influenced by phylogeny (Leishman *et al.*, 1995), seed size (Norden *et al.*, 2009), seed dispersal (Levey *et al.*, 2005), life form (Rees, 1994) and environmental signals (Jurado and Flores, 2005). However, the most important environmental factor is water, which regulates the seedling emergence (Bradford, 2017).

Seed dormancy condition is changed by temperature, which is a major environmental element that can control the breaking of dormancy as well as the initiation of secondary dormancy (Baskin and Baskin, 1998). In germination ecology, dormancy breaking and seed germination are different events which happen in response to environmental surroundings.

It is challenging to define a common "alpine" germination strategy in the alpine environment due to the high species and microhabitat diversity, which has led to a variety of germination responses and dormancy types (Körner, 2003; Schwienbacher *et al.*, 2011; Hoyle *et al.*, 2015). The alpine habitat's different environmental gradients, such as those in temperature and water, which can be found within a few meters of one another (Graham *et al.*, 2012) offer the perfect framework for evaluating changes in germination strategies in relation to the immediate environment. For example subalpine species have cooler germination temperatures than alpine species and are less dormant (Baskin and Baskin, 2014). In many arctic and alpine plant species fresh seeds germinate quickly even without any cold stratification (Sayers and Ward, 1966; Bell and Bliss, 1980). However, very high temperatures are required for arctic and alpine species to germinate, which could prohibit germination at an inappropriate time the fleeting arctic summer (Billings and Mooney, 1968).

Asteraceae (Compositae) is the largest and one of the most advanced Angiosperm families in plant kingdom. In this family, there are 1700 genera and 25,000-30,000 species found all over the world (Mandel *et al.*, 2019). Asteraceae are cosmopolitan and has a wide distribution range. Species of this family are found in a variety of environment from tundra to tropical evergreen rainforests (Baskin and Baskin, 2014). Many species are used in the ornamental and medicinal purpose. For the purpose of food and vegetables, some species are commonly cultivated in field (Lawrence, 1973). This family includes many problematic invasive, weed species that produce numerous small and fertile seeds which have high seed dispersal range, rapid growth rate and greater reproductive efforts (Yuan and Wen, 2018).

Asteraceae seeds require cold stratification to crack the physiological dormancy and expand germination (Baskin and Baskin, 2002; Brandel, 2004). In Asteraceae family, the newly collected seeds are either non-dormant (ND) or have non-deep physiological dormancy (PD) (Baskin and Baskin, 2014). Different environmental elements like temperature, moisture, soil, radiation and humidity affected by climate change influence species diversity and composition by avoiding, slowing down or speeding up the germination process and thus resulting of the phenological shift (Walck *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, at different water potentials germination responses are species specific (Fenner and Thompson, 2005; Baskin and Baskin, 2014).

Phylogenetically closely related species share identical seed-germination characters and not move too far from their perfect niche (Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Within family or a genus, germination approaches may be a fixed evolutionary character, thus inhibiting interspecific differences in germination (Zhang *et al.*, 2014; Carta *et al.*, 2016). Species

interact more greatly with near relatives than with faraway relatives (Cornwell and Ackerly, 2009).

#### **1.2 Justification**

Asteraceae is the largest plant family in the world. Funk *et al.*, (2005) mentioned that the Asteraceae family is the most diverse plant family, occupying range of habitats from tropical evergreen rainforests to tundra. Hence, the family is considered to be a model system for evolutionary studies (Baskin and Baskin, 2014; Palazzesi *et al.*, 2022). However, there have been few studies related to the dormancy and seed germination of the Asteraceae, in association with its ecology and bio geographical distribution (Baskin and Baskin, 2023).

Due to extremely restricted distribution of plants in high altitudinal regions, efforts about their germination behavior and ecology are limited (Liang *et al.*, 2018). Most of the Asteraceae species have a tendency to become invasive, a feature acquired due to number of traits in the members of this plant family such as diaspore heteromorphism (Zhang *et al.*, 2019), dispersal capacity and successful germination rates due to the presence of a crowned hairy or bristly pappus in their seeds (Hale *et al.*, 2010) and also due to their rapid adaptive evolution (Datta *et al.*, 2017). Likewise, members of the Asteraceae family show great diversity in all climatic and vegetation zones, including alpine and high Himalayan regions of Nepal. Furthermore, the seed germination of behavior of members of Asteraceae species may be influenced by the several factors such as, light and temperature gradients along different slopes and habitats (wet and dry).

Hence, this study was carried out to investigate the germination rate of seeds in laboratory conditions. Since seed germination may be affected by several abiotic components (Fenner and Thompson, 2005), this study was carried out to determine the germination patterns of six Asteraceae species from two contrasting precipitation regions (wet and dry). The results from these experiments give an idea about the optimal conditions required for the germination of the seeds of the investigated plant species. The results of this study also provide insights on how the changes in environmental conditions may affect seed germination of the mountain plants. Such insights are particularly important for understanding potential impacts of climate change on high mountain plant species of the Himalaya.

### **1.3 Hypothesis**

Hypothesis of this study is:

• Species from dry habitat have higher stress tolerance than species from wet habitat.

### **1.4 Objectives**

The general objective of the present study is

• To study the germination behavior of selected Asteraceae species from two regions with contrasting precipitation in the Himalaya.

The specific objectives of this study are

- To analyze variation in germination pattern of selected Asteraceae species from two regions with contrasting precipitation.
- To study changes in germination patterns of the selected Asteraceae species in response to environmental gradients.

### **1.5 Limitations**

We had only one growth chamber available in laboratory. So, the effect of different temperatures (Low and high) on seed germination could not be run simultaneously. Also, due to the lack of meteorological station in the study area of Annapurna Base Camp (ABC), nearest meteorological station of Lumle (Latitude: 28.29654°N, Longitude: 83.81791°E) and 1738m asl was taken as reference point.

#### **CHAPTER 2** LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Seed traits of species from contrasting habitats

From two different habitats wet and dry habitat revealed that seeds from species of wet habitat had significantly greater germination percentage than from dry habitat at lower water potential. At -0.25 MPa water potential  $77\pm3\%$  of the seeds germinated from wet habitat whereas  $62\pm3\%$  germinated from dry habitat and -0.5MPa water potential  $61\pm4\%$  seeds germinated from wet habitat and only  $44\pm3\%$  germinated from dry habitat (Ludewig *et al.*, 2014).

Germination of two endemic *Rhaponticum* species (Asteraceae) such as *Rhaponticum bicknellii* and *Rhaponticum scariosum* in two different climatic zones showed that where *Rhaponticum scariosum* germinated at warmer temperature like warmer soil and air condition and *Rhaponticum bicknellii* seeds were adopt a drought avoiding germination action and after the snowmelt seeds were immediately germinate (Carasso *et al.*, 2020). Seed germination of population of *Tragopogon pratensi* in two different habitats roadside verges and hayfields found that faster and greater germination percentage was found in roadside verge than in hayfield (Jorritsma-Wienk *et al.*, 2007).

Seeds of seven *Stipia* species from cold and warm habitats found that germination reaction to water potential varied between the species but not among the habitats. Seeds from the cold-moist habitat were more tolerant of maximum temperature than the seeds from hot-dry habitats. There was no fair arrangement in response to water potential in relation to surrounding types noted by Zhang *et al.*, (2020). Patterns of seed germination were not constant among the fellfield and snowbed environments. For interspecific differentiation no remarkable contrast in germination between fellfield and snowbed habitats at different temperature regime and cold stratification. In both fellfield and snowbed habitats, there was no difference between the germination rate and Mean Germination Time (MGT) (Shimono and Kudo, 2005).

Chen *et al.*, (2013) studied the positive photoblastic germination response of four *Ficus* species from contrasting habitats in a seasonal tropical rainforest. Plant growth of gap demanding species like *Ficus hispida* and *Ficus racemosa* inhibited under low R:FR at

22°C /23°C but was unaffected over the R:FR ratio gradient at 25°C/35°C and germination percentage of shade tolerant species *Ficus altissima* and *Ficus auriculata* were not inhibited from all treatments along the full light gradient. *Sarcocaria fruticosa*, a high marsh species, germinated in dark with enhanced germination after being exposed to saline environment for a long time whereas a medium marsh hybrid taxon called *Sarcocaria perennis* × *fruticosa* displayed intermediate reactions. It shared *Sarcocaia fruticosa* ability to germinate at a high rate in hyper saline environments as well as *Sarcocaria perennis* lack of germination in the dark and of fast germination (Redondo *et al.*, 2004).

In terms of germination behavior, calcareous and siliceous grasslands dramatically differ from one another, with slow, mostly overwinter germination and strong germination under all conditions, respectively. High overwinter germination species are primarily found in heathlands and have an arctic-alpine range. While species with a generalized low or high germinability tend to live in grasslands or lack a specialized microhabitat (Tudela-Isanta *et al.*, 2017).

#### 2.2 Asteraceae of Nepal Himalaya

Asteraceae (or Compositae, the Sunflower, Daisy and the Aster family), is the largest and advanced family of angiosperms. In this family, there are 1700 genera and 25,000-30,000 species found all over the world (Mandel *et al.*, 2019). In the context of Nepal, a total 128 genera and 414 species have been documented (Shrestha *et al.*, 2022).

Chhetri and Bhattarai (2013) organized a floristic study of the Upper Manaslu Conservation Area (MCA), Central Nepal and reported that the Asteraceae was the dominant plant family with 12 genera and 20 species including *Anaphalis* sp., *Artemisia* sp., *Aster* sp., *Cremanthodium* sp., *Gerbera nivea*, *Inula hookeri*, *Ligularia fischeri* and *Senecio wallichi*.

Chalise *et al.*, (2019) reported that Asteraceae was the dominant family with 40 species belonging to 21 genera while doing floristic study in Gyasumbdo Valley, Lower Manang, Central Nepal and those species were *Anaphalis* sp, *Aster* sp, *Circium* sp,

Cremanthodium sp, Dubyaea hispida, Saussurea sp, Synotis sp, Taraxacum sp, Inula hookeri and Ligularia fischeri.

The Asteraceae species with the most promising natural antioxidant qualities for usage in medicine, cosmetics, and food are identified. Astringents, anti-inflammatory medications, diaphoretics, nerve tonics, laxatives, wound healing products, blood flow abnormalities, headaches, pains, flatulence, dysentery, haemorrhoids, ulcers, and cachexia-causing illnesses are all members of this family (Sharma *et al.*, 2022).

The plant *Pteronia onobromoides* (Asteraceae) leaves where used in cultural and commercial benefits. The leaves powdered were mixed with fat and apply in skin for medical/ cosmetic purposes (Hulley *et al.*, 2010).

#### 2.3 Seed size and mass of Asteraceae species

Seed size and seed morphology separately influence germination and seedling growths (Zhang, 1993). For seed mass, small seeds may gather dynamic influence due to a higher dispersal capacity that enhance the probability of passing favorable microsite but the large seeds may allow rise to exceeding competitors due to higher germination percentage, lower light concern for germination and higher emergence from deeper depth (Jankowska-Blaszczuk and Daws, 2007).

Germination of small seeded species needed light but the large and intermediate sized seeds expose greater germination percentage and lower mean times to germinate than small seeded species (Galindez *et al.*, 2009). Germination of large seeded species requires less light in comparison to small seeded species (Milberg *et al.*, 2000). Large seeds were produced by *Flourensia cernua* because there was a higher bearing of filled seeds (Valencia-Diaz and Montana, 2005). It also indicates that seed quality was affected by yearly variation in the winter temperature of the maternal environment while seed size was also affected by annual rainfall.

Seed dimorphism occurs when a single plant develops two seed types with distinct form and/or behavior. Van Molken *et al.*, (2005) observed that larger seeds produce higher

germination percentages and seed morphology had no direct effect on the germination process. Seed size controlled the germination behavior rather than by seed morphology.

#### 2.4 Seed germination patterns of Asteraceae species

Li *et al.*, (2007) reported that *Echinacea purpurea* seeds obtained higher germination percentage when treated with gibberellic acid (GA<sub>3</sub>) and ethephon. Also prechilling treatment to the seeds elevated their germination rate and percentage in both dark and light periods and germination was also improved when the seed coat was removed. Seeds of *Artemisia* species such as *Artemisia wudanica*, *Artemisia halodendron*, *Artemisia sieversiana* and *Artemisia scoparia* obtained higher germination percentage when they were treated in chilled and long term dry storage. Out of four species, *A. scoparia* attained greater germination percentage when the seeds were store at dry condition rather than chilled (Li *et al.*, 2012).

According to Martinez-Garcia *et al.*, (2012), the seeds of *Senecio coincyi* showed 90–100% germination rates at 15°C to 30°C and germination was not affected by light condition. *Brachycome muelleri* seeds germinated when dormancy was subdued by gibberellic acid (GA<sub>3</sub>) under a maximum temperature was 20°C as stated by Jusaitis *et al.*, (2004).

Moreover, the seeds of *Polymnia canadensis* attained greater germination percentage after cold stratification and germination was higher in light than in dark condition as observed by Bender *et al.*, (2003). Freshly collected seeds of *Silybum marianum* did not germinate at any temperature and light conditions but after treating the seeds with GA<sub>3</sub> and light increased germination percentage in dark at any range of temperature as noted by Monemizadeh *et al.*, (2021).

*Bidens pilosa* attained significantly greater germination percentage when seeds were treated in effect of GA<sub>3</sub>, subjected to cold stratification and were dry stored reported by Zhang *et al.*, (2019).

#### 2.4.1 Dormancy

Seed dormancy can directly prevent/promote the germination or can make the seeds postpone their germination even when the environment is favorable for germination (Baskin and Baskin, 2004). In Asteraceae family, the newly collected seeds have either non-dormant (ND) or have non-deep physiological dormancy (PD) (Baskin and Baskin, 2014). Freshly harvested seeds of some species have non-dormant dormancy and they can germinate over a large scale within the specified time (Baskin and Baskin 2014; Kildisheva *et al.*, 2020).

Bender *et al.*, (2003) found that seeds of *Polymnia canadensis* (from the family Asteraceae) carry physiological dormancy but generated a higher seed germination percentage after they were subjected to cold stratification. Seeds of *Rhaponticum bicknellii* were also physiologically dormant (Carasso *et al.*, 2020).

Similarly, two types of non-deep physiological dormancy were present in *Silybum marianum* (Asteraceae) during seed development as stated by Monemizadeh *et al.*, (2021). Furthermore, Mattana *et al.*, (2009) reported that two types of non-deep physiological dormancy were also found in *Lamyropsis microcephala*.

Li *et al.*, (2012) reported that seeds of *Artemisia scoparia* had innate dormancy which was broken by chilling and long term dry storage. Likewise, the seeds from both the central and marginal seeds of *Bidens pilosa* showed non-deep physiological dormancy which was broken when the seeds were treated with GA<sub>3</sub>, subjected to cold stratification and kept for dry storage as mentioned by Zhang *et al.*, (2019).

#### 2.4.2 Light requirements

One of the most important regulatory environmental signals in seed germination is light (Gutterman, 1993). Seeds of Neotropical pioneer small seeded species need light for germination in comparison to other larger-seeded species (Pearson *et al.*, 2002).

Within both light and dark periods, prechilling treatment can significantly increase the germination rate and percentage of the seeds. Seeds prechilled in the dark had a lower germination percentage and germination rate compared to seeds prechilled in the light (Li

*et al.*, 2007). Effect of light on seed germination of *Echinacea purpurea* was dynamic, either encouraging seed germination (Smith-Jochum and Albrecht, 1987) or having no impact (Wartidiningsih and Geneve, 1994).

Seeds of *Artemisia sphaerocephala* (Asteraceae) germinate in light but not in dark (Huang and Gutterman, 1999). The seeds of *Artemisia sphaerocephala* are delicate to far –red light and germination was enhanced than in the dark (Koller *et al.*, 1964). Seeds of four *Artemisia* species such as *A. wudanica*, *A. halodendron*, *A. sieversiana* and *A. scoparia* obtained greater germination percentage under light regimes than in the dark. Moreover, dark had no effect on the seed germination of two semi-shrubs *A. wudanica* and *A. halodendron* but it discouraged germination in the seeds of the annuals species such as *A. sieversiana* and *A. scoparia* (Li *et al.*, 2012).

Milberg *et al.*, (2000) reported that germination and light requirement coexist with seed mass. Also, Jankowska-Blaszczuk and Daws, (2007) conclude that in temperate forest, small-seeded herbs needed more light for germination and due to competition from the photoblastic species, greater standard of light (R: FR) is required for herbs with small seeds. In case of light quality, suitable microsites are required for the germination of small seeded species.

Kumar and Sharma (2012) found that the seeds of *Tagetes minuta* don't demand light. According to Afolayan *et al.*, (1997), the seeds of *Helichrysum aureonitens* required light and suitable temperature for germination. Further, the seeds of *Helichrysum apiculatum* revealed higher germination percentage when exposed to light than in the dark.

Seeds of Mexican Sunflower, *Tithonia rotundifolia*, exhibited higher germination rates in dark than in the light because of non-photoblastic nature as mentioned by Wen, (2015). However, *Oritrophium peruvianum* seeds favor light for germination than in the dark (Ulian *et al.*, 2013).

#### 2.4.3 Effects of temperature

Afolayan *et al.*, (1997) reported that, *Helichrysum aureonitens* seeds germinated higher at temperature between 25°C and 30°C than 15 and 35°C. The suitable temperature range for seed germination was 25-30°C under the incidence of light. Similarly, only 1% germination was obtained at 35°C under light regimes. Greater germination percentage was obtained within the temperature range of 15-35°C. However, between the temperature range of 10°C and 40°C germination percentage declined and between 5°C and 45°C seeds didn't germinate at all in the seeds of the studied species; *Cichorium intybus*, *Cynara scolymus*, *Echinacea purpurea*, *Achillea millefolium* and *Matricaria aurea* (Zarghani *et al.*, 2014).

Seeds of *Stevia rebaudiana*, *Salvia sclarea* and *Tagetes minuta* were treated within a range of two factors light periods and under different temperature regimes, (room temperature, 20°C, and 10°C). In all the three species maximum germination was recorded when seeds were placed in room temperature for two days and placed in continuous light at 20°C (Kumar and Sharma, 2012).

According to Huang and Gutterman (1999), the most favorable temperature for germination of seeds of *Artemisia sphaerocephala* was 25°C, after rainfall. From the results it was observed that the germination was slow and germination percentage was low at 10°C and 30°C. Also, the seeds did not germinate even at 5°C. According to Li *et al.*, (2007), seeds of *Echinacea purpurea* showed greater germination percentage when they were treated with GA<sub>3</sub> at constant temperature 20°C and alternating temperature range of 20°C to 30°C. Hence, no significant difference was obtained for germination percentage at both constant and alternating temperature regimes.

Likewise, Wen (2015) observed the seeds of *Tithonia rotundifolia* that exhibited to have maximum germination at fluctuating temperatures of 18/28°C. However, at 35°C, the germination percentage of the seeds were noted to be between 20% and 40%. It was observed that the suitable temperature regime for seed germination is between 15°C and 30°C. Furthermore, germination was found to be higher in darkness than in light periods between 10°C and 40°C showing the non-photoblastic nature of the seeds.

According to Martinez-Garcia *et al*, (2012), the seeds of *Senecio coincyi* attained higher germination percentage 90–100% between the temperature regimes of 15°C and 30°C. However, the germination percentage declined at 10°C (19%). Similarly, Ulian *et al.*, (2013) reported that the seeds of *Oritrophium peruvianum* showed higher germination percentage at an alternating temperature regime (average low temperature 16°C and average high temperature 24°C) when compared to the constant temperature periods between 25°C and 26°C.

#### 2.4.4 Effect of water stress

Accessibility to water decreases seed germination of species. Neckar *et al.*, (2008) worked on the seeds of Asteraceae family under water deficit condition by using PEG 6000 (Polyethylene Glycol) solution having different concentrations and different water potentials (0, -0.05, -0.1, and -0.5). From the results, the lowest value of seed germination was obtained at -0.5 MPa water potential.

According to Wen (2015), germination percentage of *Tithonia rotundifolia* was significantly reduced at -0.3 MPa water potential when compared with the control groups. Seeds with equal water potential between -0.5 MPa and -1 MPa revealed to have lower germination when treated with PEG 8000 as compared to sodium chloride (NaCl) solution. The germination percentage reduced to 20% at -0.6 MPa water potential when treated with PEG or at -1 MPa when treated with NaCl.

Toscano *et al.*, (2017) reported that, 90% germination was obtained from the seeds of ornamental Sunflowers (*Helianthus annuus*) at no water stress (control) when tested between all cultivators. Among the three types of Hybrid Sunflowers ('Hadar,' 'Pazit,' and 'Zohar') Hadar and Pazit performed better at -0.45 MPa water potential with a germination percentage of  $\geq$ 80%. However, 23% germination was obtained at -0.6 MPa water potential. In case of Zohar, 80% germination was obtained at -0.6 MPa water potential and the seeds also displayed germination at -0.75 MPa water potential.

According to Yuan and Wen (2018), three species such as *Crassocephalum crepidioides*, *Conyza canadensis* and *Ageratum conyzoides* attained higher germination percentage i.e. 40%, 50% and 65% at -0.6MPa water potential while treating with PEG 8000 and NaCl with uniform water potential gradient between -0.05 and -1Mpa. *Crassocephalum crepidioides* and *Ageratum conyzoides* were more sensitive to PEG than NaCl while *Conyza canadensis* was more sensitive to NaCl.

Ping *et al.*, (2011) reported that when using PEG 6000 seeds of *Chromolaena odorata* was germinated 78, 74, 68, 64 and 63% at 0, -0.1, -0.2,-0.3 and -0.4 MPa water potential. At -0.5, -0.6 and -0.7 MPa water potential only 29, 15 and 5% of seeds germinated. No germination obtaining at -0.8 -0.9, and -1.0 MPa water potential. Greater germinations were obtaining at osmotic potentials between 0 and -0.4 MPa. Seeds of *Centaurea* 

*eriophora* treated in PEG 6000 with water potentials 0, -0.03, -0.08, -0.19, -0.47, -1.2 and -2.45 MPa. 85% germination was occurred at 0MPa and lowest germination was found at -1.2 MPa i.e. 6.66% and germination was totally inhibited at -2.45MPa water potential (Bouker *et al.*, 2022).

#### 2.5 Research Gap

There are a few studies on the germination of high Himalayan plants and little knowledge about it. Earlier research have mainly dedicated to germination, emergence and implication for invasiveness in *Taraxacum* species (Letchamo and Gosselin, 1996; Luo and Cardina, 2012). Moreover, there is absence of details on the effect of environmental stress, growth of these wild species and climate change which can provide the important information about their adaptation, invasiveness and global warming. There was no record of germination behavior of the species such as *Cremanthodium arnicoides*, *Cremanthodium reniforme*, *Synotis alata*, *Synotis penninervis*, *Dubyaea hispida* and *Taraxacum eriopodum*. There is lacking of studies about germination of species in two contrasting precipitation habitat.

#### **CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **3.1 Species Characteristics**

Six species of the Asteraceae *Cremanthodium reniforme*, *Cremanthodium arnicoides*, *Synotis alata*, *Synotis penninervis*, *Dubyaea hispida* and *Taraxacum eriopodum* were selected for the study (Table 1). Those species were selected on the basis of phylogenetic closeness of the six species *Cremanthodium reniforme*, *Cremanthodium arnicoides*, *Synotis alata* and *Synotis penninervis* (Fig. 1) belong to same tribe Senecioneae and same subfamily Asteroideae (Fu *et al.*, 2016) and the species *Dubyaea hispida* and *Taraxacum eriopodum* (Fig. 1) belong to subfamily Cichorioideae which is closely related with subfamily Asteroideae (Fu *et al.*, 2016).

**Table 1**: Description of the study species

Species	Common name	Distribution	Habit and habitat
<i>Cremanthodium</i> <i>reniforme</i> (DC.) Benth.	Tractor Seat plant	Central and eastern Himalaya to China. Western, Central and Eastern Nepal (3800-4900 m) (Shrestha <i>et al.</i> , 2022).	Deciduous perennial herb with kidney shaped, moist area
Dubyea hispida DC.	Bristly Dubyaea	Himalaya to China and north Myanmar Western, Central and Eastern Nepal (2700-4300 m (Shrestha <i>et al.</i> , 2022).	perennial herb, moist area

<i>Synotis alata</i> (Wall. ex DC.) C.Jeffrey and Y.L.Chen	Winged Senecio	Himalaya to China and Myanmar Western, Central and Eastern Nepal (1500-4400 m) (Shrestha <i>et al.</i> , 2022).	perennial herb, moist area
<i>Cremanthodium arnicoides</i> (DC. ex Royle) R.D.Good	Arnica emanthodium arnicoides C. ex Royle) R.D.Good Sunflower		perennial herb, dry area
Synotis penninervis (H.Koyama) T.J.Tong, M.Tang, C.Ren and Q.E.Yang		Himalaya to south Tibet. Western and Central Nepal at the range of 2800- 4500m (Shrestha <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2022).	perennial herb, dry area
<i>Taraxacum eriopodum</i> (D.Don) DC.		Himalaya (Kashmir to Bhutan), Assam, Tibet, West China. Western Central and Eastern Nepal (2100-4600m (Shrestha <i>et al.</i> , 2022).	Perennial herb, dry area



Cremanthodium reniforme



Cremanthodium arnicoides



Dubyaea hispida



Synotis penninervis



Synotis alata



Taraxacum eriopodum

#### **Figure 1: Study species**

#### **3.2 Seed collection site**

Seed of *Synotis alata, Dubyaea hispida* and *Cremanthodium reniforme* were collected from Deurali to Annapurna Base Camp (ABC) (Fig. 2C) which is located in Kaski district of Gandaki province. The area lies on the southern declivity of Annapurna mountain range. The dominant tree species in the region are *Betula utilis, Abies spectabilis, Salix* spp., *Sorubus* spp., *Prunus* spp. and *Juniperus* spp. Seeds of *Cremanthodium arnicoides, Synotis penninervis* and *Taraxacum eriopodum* were collected from Manang district of Gandaki province (Fig. 2D). The seed collection sites in Manang district is located at the broad valley of Marshyangdi river to the north of the Annapurna mountain range. It is also included in Trans-Himalayan biogeographic region (Dobremez, 1976) and has vegetation similar to Tibetan Plateau (Chaudhary, 1998). Dominant tree species in the region are *Pinus wallichiana, Betula utilis, Abies spectabilis* and *Juniperus* spp. Both seed collection sites lies in Annapurna Conservation Area (ACA) and it covers 7629 km<sup>2</sup> which is the largest protected area of Nepal (DNPWC, 2016). Annapurna Base Camp is one of the moist regions of Nepal. At the year of 1991-1994, the precipitation of Lumle was over 5100 mm year<sup>-1</sup>, Ghandruk 2900mm year<sup>-1</sup> and Machapuchre Base Camp was 1664 mm year<sup>-1</sup> (Braun *et al.*, 1998) while the precipitation of Manang was 442 mm year<sup>-1</sup>. Manang valley is one of the driest regions of Nepal Himalaya, it is situated in the Trans-Himalayan region and the rain shadow affects the surrounding Himalayas which make it dry (Karki et al., 2015).

### Table 2: Seed collection for study species

Study species	Location	Collection date	Latitude (°N)	Longitude (°E)	Elevation (m)
<i>Cremanthodium</i> <i>reniforme</i> (Wall.ex DC.) Benth.	Kaski, above Macchapuchre Base Camp	25 <sup>th</sup> September, 2022	28.52838	83.89433	3960
Dubyaea hispida DC.	Kaski, above Macchapuchre Base Camp	24 <sup>th</sup> September, 2022	28.52745	83.90272	3761
<i>Synotis alata</i> (Wall. ex DC.) C.Jeffrey & Y.L.Chen	Kaski, below Macchapuchre Base Camp	23 <sup>rd</sup> September, 2022	28.51847	83.90775	3504
<i>Cremanthodium</i> <i>arnicoides</i> (DC.ex Royle) R.D. Good	Manang, Yakkharka	17 <sup>th</sup> October, 2022	28.72911	83.970927	4120
Synotis penninervis (H.Koyama) T.J.Tong, M.Tang, C.Ren & Q.E.Yang	Manang, Thorang bridge	18 <sup>th</sup> October, 2022	28.76298	83.96676	4404
<i>Taraxacum eriopodum</i> (D.Don) DC.	Manang, Humde	22 May, 2022	28.63818 7	84.089815	3387



Figure 2 A) Map of Nepal B) Annapurna Conservation Area showing Kaski and ManangC) Seed collection site in Annapurna Base Camp D) Seed collection site in Manang

The past 11 years (2012-2022) climatic data was recorded from Lumle were annual precipitation of was 5254mm. The maximum precipitation was recorded 1511mm in July and minimum precipitation 4mm was recorded in November. The maximum temperature was recorded 24°C in August and minimum temperature at 4°C in January (Fig. 3A) (Department of Hydrology and Meteorology).

Weather data collected at Humde meteorological station (Manang) (Latitude: 28.638197 °N, Longitude: 84.089815 °E and 3387m asl) for eight years (2015-2022) was taken as a reference.

Annual precipitation of Humde was 452.03mm. The maximum precipitation was recorded 74.75mm in July and minimum precipitation 1.54mm was recorded in November. The maximum temperature was recorded at 19°C in August and minimum

temperature at -10°C was in January (Fig.3B) (Department of Hydrology and Meteorology).

#### 3.3 Seed collection and Storage

Seeds were collected during September 2022 from Deurali to Annapurna Base Camp (ABC) and October 2022 from Manang (Table.2). Seeds of all species were collected from the mature and healthy plants. Only fully ripened seeds were collected. All seeds were collected when natural dispersal began (Fig.4). After collection, seeds were kept in muslin cloth and transported to the Ecology laboratory of Central Department of Botany, Tribhuvan University, Kirtipur. Seeds were discarded. Separated healthy, matured and intact seeds were placed in air tight plastic bottle and stored at 4°C in refrigerator until needed (Chauhan and Johnson 2008; Baskin and Baskin 2014). To absorb the moisture of seeds silica gel (particle size: 6-20 mesh) was used.

#### 3.4 Seed mass

For seed mass, lot of 100 seeds for *Synotis alata*, *Synotis penninervis* and *Taraxacum eriopodum* and lot of 50 seeds for *Dubyaea hispida*, *Cremanthodium reniforme* and *Cremanthodium arnicoides* were taken according to their seed size. The seeds were oven dried at 60°C for 72 h. Three replicates for each species were taken. Mean seed mass was measured with the help of digital weighing balance (0.0001g) Model (MG214Ai) (Baskin and Baskin, 2014).





**Figure 3:** (A) Mean of maximum and minimum temperature as well as precipitation recorded between 2012-2022 at Lumle station of Kaski, Nepal (B) Mean of maximum and minimum temperature as well as precipitation recorded between 2015-2022 at Humde station of Manang, Nepal (Department of Hydrology and Meteorology)



Seed collection

Seed cleaned

Seed storage

Figure 4: Seed collection and storage

### 3.5 Seed Size

For seed size, 20 seeds were taken for each species and measured the length and breadth (Fig.5). Seed size was measured by using stereomicroscope (Model: STMLAB-T LED) BEL ENGINEERING SRL ITALIA and "Wave Image" software and camera (Model: EUREKAM 20 PLUS).

### **3.6 Preliminary germination test**

The germination procedure was carried out immediately so that the storage process would not change the germination behavior of the seeds (Baskin and Baskin, 2014). Hence, the preliminary tests were carried out immediately after a week (4-7 days). In the process all seeds began to germinate after incubation of 4-5 days and most of them germinated in 14 days.



**Figure 5**: Seed size measurement of studied species a) *Cremanthodium reniforme* b) *Dubyaea hispida* c) *Synotis alata* d) *Cremanthodium arnicoides* e) *Synotis penninervis* f) *Taraxacum eriopodum* 

#### 3.7 Germination experiment

Seeds were tested for dormancy in preliminary germination experiment within 7-10 days after collection. After the preliminary test, full cycle of germination experiments were run as seeds germinated in 4-5 days of incubation. Germination experiment was done in different environmental conditions such as light, temperatures and different water stress conditions. In germination experiment 30 mature and uniform sized seeds were equally distributed in 9-cm diameter Petri dish with a 2 layer of filter papers which were then moistened either with 3-ml of distilled water or 3-ml of different concentration of Polyethylene Glycol (PEG 6000) solution (Fig. 6). There were five replications for each treatment; therefore for each treatment 150 seeds of each species were used. The Petri dishes were sealed with parafilm and incubated inside the growth chamber (GC-300TLH, Jeio Tech, Korea) for 14 days. Light intensity was maintained at 3000 lux and relative humidity at 70%. Other environmental conditions maintained inside the chamber has
been described below. Radicle emergence is considered main criteria for seed germination (Chauhan and Johnson, 2009). Seed germination was evaluated daily for 14 days (Zarghani *et al.*, 2014). For complete dark treatment germination was observed in 14<sup>th</sup> day.

## **3.7.1 Effect of Temperature and light**

The effect of temperature on germination was determined where seeds were incubated in growth chamber and maintaining two alternating temperature regimes  $25/15^{\circ}$ C and  $30/20^{\circ}$ C simulating day/night conditions. The higher temperature ( $30/20^{\circ}$ C) (Chauhan and Johnson, 2009) and lower temperature ( $25/15^{\circ}$ C) was maintained with the 12-h photoperiod (white fluorescent light) with the intensity of 3000 lux. For continuous dark treatment Petri dishes were wrapped by two-layered aluminum foil and placed in growth chamber. Germination was recorded on 14<sup>th</sup> day of seed incubation.

## 3.7.2 Effect of Water Stress

Polyethylene glycol (PEG 6000) solution was used to know the effect of water stress on the germination of species. In order to prepare the PEG solution, 296 g of PEG 6000 was dissolved in distilled water to prepare 1 liter of PEG solution of -1MPa (Michel and Kaufmann, 1973). This solution was then diluted to prepare the PEG solution of other concentrations such as -0.1, -0.25, -0.5, -0.75 and -1 MPa. In growth chamber maintaining day/night temperature, whereas minimum temperature (25/15°C) and maximum temperature (30/20°C) with the intensity of 3000 lux. Those seeds which did not germinate at high concentration of PEG solutions -0.75 and -1MPa were rinsed with distilled water and added 3ml distilled water and placed inside the growth chamber again. The numbers of germinated seeds were counted after 7 days.



Arrangement of seeds on Petri dish



Wrapped Petri dishes in aluminum foil



Distilled water or PEG solution added



Germinated seeds



Seed incubation in growth chamber



Germinated seeds at 14 days

# Figure 6: Different stages of seed germination experiment

## 3.8 Data analysis

## **3.8.1 Germination pattern**

Germination percentage, Timson's Index and Mean germination time were calculated using following formulae (Baskin and Baskin, 2014).

Germination % =  $\frac{\text{Germinated seed}}{\text{Total seed}} \times 100\%$ 

Timson's Index measures germination rate and was calculated as

Timson's Index =  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} Gi$ 

where, Gi = cumulative daily germination percentage in time interval *i* and *k* is total number of intervals

Mean germination time (days) measure of the time to have maximum germination and was calculated using following formula:

Mean germination time =  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} niti / \sum_{i=1}^{k} ni$ 

Where, ti = time from start of experiment (day)to the 1<sup>st</sup> observation

ni = number of seeds germinated at time (not the cumulative number)

k = last time of germination

#### 3.8.2 Statistical analysis

For statistical data analyses, prior to the parametric test, the data were checked for normality and homogeneity of variance. Fractional values were subjected to square root transformation first, and then degree arcsine transformation. An independent sample t-test was used to examine the impact of light, dark and temperature within each species and between species, an Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) with a Tukey post-hoc test was used. A one-way ANOVA, tukey post-hoc test was conducted to examine the impact of light, dark and temperature among species. To analyze the water stress and species two-way ANOVA was conducted. All the analysis were done using Microsoft excel 2010 and IBM SPSS Statistics 25 (IBM Corp, 2017)

## **CHAPTER 4 RESULTS**

## 4.1 Seed mass and seed size

The highest seed mass was found in *Cremanthodium arnicoides* from dry habitat and *Cremanthodium reniforme* from wet habitat (Table.3). Lowest seed mass was found nearly similar in *Synotis alata* and *Taraxacum eriopodum* from both wet and dry habitat. Out of six species the largest seed size was found in *Dubyaea hispida* from wet habitat and *Cremanthodium arnicoides* from dry habitat.

. Table 3: Mean  $(\pm$  SD) seed mass of study species (n=3)

Habitats	Species	Seed Mass (mg/seed)	Length (mm)	Breadth (mm)
Wet	Cremanthodium reniforme	1.47±7.29×10 <sup>-5</sup>	3.33±0.225 <sup>C</sup>	0.91±0.092 <sup>a</sup>
habitat	Dubyaea hispida	0.874±3.48×10 <sup>-5</sup>	7.93±0.449 <sup>A</sup>	0.75±0.076 <sup>b</sup>
	Synotis alata	$0.61\pm0.8\times10^{-5}$	2.82±0.197 <sup>D</sup>	$0.65 \pm 0.065^{d}$
Dry habitat	Cremanthodium arnicoides	$2.92\pm5.67\times10^{-5}$	3.88±0.392 <sup>B</sup>	$0.88 \pm 0.089^{ac}$
	Synotis penninervis	$1.11 \pm 12.1 \times 10^{-5}$	2.85±0.275 <sup>D</sup>	0.76±0.062 <sup>c</sup>
	Taraxacum eriopodum	$0.51 \pm 3.66 \times 10^{-5}$	$2.36\pm0.207^{E}$	$0.75\pm0.117^{b}$

Capital letter represents significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ ) among the length of the species. Small letter represents significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ ) among the breadth of the species.

# 4.2 Germination pattern

## **4.2.1 Effect of light**

The germination percentage of *Synotis penninervis* (93% in photoperiod and 94.67% in dark) and *Cremanthodium arnicoides* (97% in photoperiod and 96.67% in dark) were significantly greater than those of other species at low temperatures (25/15°C) (Fig. 7A). As from wet region germination of *Synotis alata* was significantly higher as compared with *Cremanthodium reniforme* and *Dubyaea hispida*. However, from the (Fig.7A) it is

evident that the species from dry regions showed almost equal Germination Percentage (%) under both dark and photoperiod (control sets), i.e. *Cremanthodium arnicoides* (97%), *Synotis penninervis* (93%), and *Taraxacum eriopodum* (73%). From moist region *Cremanthodium reniforme* and *Dubyaea hispida* both had roughly comparable percentage of germination in the dark and during the photoperiod, whereas *Synotis alata* had much higher rates (40% in the dark and 79% during the photoperiod). In wet region, no significant difference was found between *Cremanthodium reniforme* and *Dubyaea hispida* but significant difference was found in *Synotia alata* at continuous dark. At photoperiod, no significant difference was found in *Dubyaea hispida*. In dry region, no significant difference was found in *Dubyaea hispida*. In dry region, no significant difference was found in *Dubyaea hispida*. In dry region, no significant difference was found in *Dubyaea hispida*. In dry region, no significant difference was found in *Dubyaea hispida*. In dry region, no significant difference was found in *Dubyaea hispida*. In dry region, no significant difference was found in *Dubyaea hispida*. In dry region, no significant difference was found in *Taraxacum eriopodum*.

But a contrasting difference in the Germination Percentage (%) from temperature experiments was seen for *Synotis* species from both wet and dry regions. At higher temperature (30/20°C), the Germination Percentage (%) for *Synotis alata* (92%), from wet region, was found to be significantly higher than the Germination Percentage (%) for *Synotis penninervis* (68%) from the dry region (Fig.7B). These two species were significantly different in dark and photoperiod conditions. Other species like *Taraxacum eriopodum* and *Cremanthodium reniforme* had about comparable germination rates in both dark and light conditions. *Dubyaea hispida* and *Cremanthodium arnicoides* also had nearly equal germination rates. Species from wet region germinated high at high temperature (30/20°C) than low temperature (25/15°C). In wet region, no significant difference was found in dark but in photoperiod significant difference was found significant difference was found in dark but in photoperiod significant difference was found significant difference was found in dark but in photoperiod significant difference was found significant difference was found in dark but in photoperiod significant difference was found significant difference was found in dark but in photoperiod significant difference was found significant difference was found in dark but in photoperiod significant difference was found significant difference was found in dark but in photoperiod significant difference was found significant difference was found in dark but in photoperiod significant difference was found significant difference was found between species.

## **4.2.2 Effect of temperature**

At low temperature (25/15°C), there was significant difference found in germination percentage at wet and dry regions (Fig. 8a). Among species significant differences was found between *Dubyaea hispida* and *Synotis alata* from wet region but in dry region no significant differences was found between *Cremanthodium arnicoides* and *Synotis* 

*penninervis* but significant differences was found in *Taraxacum eriopodum*. Similarly significant difference was found in Mean Germination Time (MGT) at the wet and dry region (Fig. 8b). For Timson's Index (TI) no significant difference found between *Cremanthodium reniforme* and *Dubyaea hispida* and differences found in *Synotis alata* in wet region but no difference found in dry region (Fig. 8c).

At high temperature, significant difference in the germination percentage was found in wet region but no difference found in dry region in germination percentage (Fig. 8a). Similarly, significant differences were found in MGT in both wet and dry region (Fig. 8b). Also, no significant differences were found between *Dubyaea hispida* and *Synotis alata* in wet region and dry region significant differences were found for the values of Timson's Index (Fig. 8c).



**Figure 7.** A) Germination percentage (GP) at 12h photoperiod and dark under low temperature (25/15°C) B) Germination percentage (GP) at 12h photoperiod and dark under high temperatures (30/20°C). n=5. Error bars represent  $\pm$  SD of the mean. '\*' represent significant difference at  $p \leq 0.05$  (t-test). '\*' represent significant difference between 12h Photoperiod and dark within species. Capital and small letter represents significant difference between 12h photoperiod and dark among species.



**Figure 8.** Effect of temperature on (a) Germination Percent (b) Mean Germination Time (MGT) in high (30/20°C) and low(25/15°C) temperatures, and error bars represent ±1 SE of the mean. Different alphabet A-c above the bar represent significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ ) among species at low temperature; different alphabet X-z represent a significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ ) among species at high temperature



**Figure 8.** Effect of temperature on (c) Timson's Index (TI) in high (30/20°C) and low(25/15°C) temperatures, and error bars represent ±1 SE of the mean. Different alphabet A-c above the bar represent significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ ) among species at low temperature; different alphabet X-z represent a significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ ) among species at high temperature

## 4.2.3 Effect of water stress

The Germination Percentage (%) showed variation within all the tested species (from wet and dry regions) at different Water Potential values (0 MPa, -0.1 MPa and -0.25 MPa) (Fig. 9). At -0.5MPa water potential germination was significantly decreases. Germination of all six species was significantly higher in water potential at -0.25MPa. Germination percentage of *Synotis alata* and *Taraxacum eriopodum* remained similar at water potential 0, -0.1, -0.25 and -0.5MPa. Only seeds of *Cremanthodium arnicoides* were able to germinate at -0.75MPa and no germination was observed in water potential of -1MPa.



**Figure 9**. Effect of water stress on Germination percentage (GP) under low temperature (25/15°C) at photoperiod Error bars represent  $\pm$  SD of the mean. n=5. '\*' represent significance level at  $p \leq 0.05$  (t-test). A-C represents wet region and D-F represents dry region.

Water stress negatively affected seed germination of species of high Himalaya at high temperature. Variation in the Germination Percentage (%) within the same species. i.e. *Synotis alata* and *Synotis penninervis* was also noted in the experiment trials involving different Water Potential values at a constant state of high temperature (30/20°C). The Germination Percentage (%) of *Synotis penninervis* (68.67%) was found to be lower than *Synotis alata* (92% (Fig. 10). Germination percentage was significantly higher at water potential of -0.25MPa. After -0.25MPa germination was significantly lower at -0.5MPa water potential. Germination was not obtained at -0.75 and -1MPa water potential.



**Figure 10.** Effect of water stress on Germination percentage (GP) under high temperatures (30/20°C). Error bars represent  $\pm$  SD of the mean. n=5. '\*' represent significance level at  $p \leq 0.05$  (t-test). A-C represents wet region and D-F represents dry region.

At low temperature (25/15°C), Mean Germination Time (MGT) was higher in *Cremanthodium reniforme* which was followed by *Synotis penninervis* and lower was found in *Taraxacum eriopodum* (Fig.11). Out of six species only *Cremanthodium arnicoides* show significant difference at -0.75MPa.



**Figure 11**. Effect of water stress on A) Mean germination time (MGT) under low temperature (25/15°C). Error bars represent  $\pm$  SD of the mean. n=5.'\*' represent significance level at  $p \leq 0.05$  (t-test). A-C represents wet region and D-F represents dry region.

At high temperature (30/20°C), MGT was significantly higher in *Synotis penninervis* (Fig.12) which was followed by *Cremanthodium reniforme* and the least was found in *Taraxacum eriopodum*.



**Figure 12.** Effect of water stress on Mean germination time (MGT) under high temperature (30/20°C). Error bars represent  $\pm$  SD of the mean. n=5.'\*' represent significance level at  $p \leq 0.05$  (t-test). A-C represents wet region and D-F represents dry region.

At low temperature (25/15°C), the significantly higher Timson's Index (TI) 800 was found in *Taraxacum eriopodum* which was followed by *Cremanthodium arnicoides* and *Synotis penninervis* (Fig.13). Significantly lower TI was found in *Dubyaea hispida* and *Cremanthodium reniforme*. Only *Cremanthodium arnicoides* show significant difference in TI at -0.75MPa.



**Figure 13.** Effect of water stress on Timson's index (TI) under low temperature (25/15°C). Error bars represent  $\pm$  SD of the mean. n=5.'\*' represent significance level at  $p \leq 0.05$  (t-test). A-C represents wet region and D-F represents dry region.

At high temperature (30/20°C), Timson's Index differed significantly among species. *Dubyaea hispida* showed significantly highest TI which was followed by *Taraxacum eriopodum* and the least was found in *Synotis penninervis* (Fig.14). Significant difference in TI was found in water potential at -0.25 and -0.5MPa.



**Figure 14.** Effect of water stress on Timson's index (TI) under high temperature (30/20°C). Error bars represent  $\pm$  SD of the mean. n=5. '\*' represent significance level at  $p \leq 0.05$  (t-test). A-C represents wet region and D-F represents dry region.

At low temperature (25/15°C), Germination percentage, Mean Germination Time and Timson's Index varied significantly with species, water potential as well as their interaction (Table 4A). Effect of species and water potential alone was significantly higher compared to their combined effect in all germination percentage, MGT and TI.

Similarly, at high temperature (30/20°C) effect of species and water potential alone was also significantly higher (Table 4B) compared to their combined effect in all germination percentage, MGT and TI.

**Table 4**: Results of two-way ANOVA showing the effect of the interactions of species and water potentials on Germination percentage (GP), Mean germination time (MGT) and Timson's index (TI)

	Variables	df	F-value	Sig.
Germination	Species	5	32.23	.000
Percentage	Water potential	3	30.68	.000
	Species×water potential	15	2.90	.001
Mean	Species	5	236.94	.000
Germination Time	Water potential	3	320.38	.000
	Species×water potential	15	3.0	.001
Timson's Index	Species	5	103.11	.000
	Water potential	3	128	.000
	Species×water potential	15	1.77	.050

(A) Low temperature  $(25/15^{\circ}C)$ 

# (B) High temperature $(30/20^{\circ}C)$

	Variables	df	F-value	Sig.
Germination	Species	3	24.32	.000
Percentage	Water potential	5	128.43	.000
	Species×water potential	15	4.32	.000
Mean	Species	3	24.98	.000
Germination Time	Water potential	5	4.42	.006
	Species×water potential	15	1.8	.045
Timson's Index	Species	3	131.23	.000
	Water potential	5	245.93	.000
	Species×water potential	15	7.7	.000

#### **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

## 5.1 Seed Mass and Seed Size

Generally, a seed's access to resources is severely constrained in low-light or desert climatic environments. Growth in seed size has typically been linked to an increase in water availability (Castro, 1999). Small seeded species inhabit dry region where the water availability varies frequently. Also, these species ingest water quickly (Kikuzawa and Koyama, 1999). Additionally, species with smaller seeds tend to flourish in open or mesic environments than in low-light or arid habitats (Foster and Janson,1985; Mazer, 1989). Although there may be a positive (Sultan and Bazzaz, 1993) or negative (Westgate *et al.*, 1989) association, seed size has frequently been linked to the severity of drought stress. In this study smaller seed size was found in *Taraxacum eriopodum* because of the moisture content in dry region. Larger seed size was found in *Dubyaea hispida* from moist region which can be attributed to abundant water availability (Kikuzawa and Koyama, 1999).

In wet region seed mass was higher because the growing season was long (Rockwood, 1985). Opposite of this trend was noted in this study because higher seed mass was found in *Cremanthodium arnicoides* from dry region because the need for successful establishment produces selection pressure for large seeds (Kidson & Westoby, 2000). Lower seed mass was found in *Taraxacum eriopodum* from dry region because small-seed evolution might benefit from widespread distribution (Fenner, 1983). The availability of moisture and seed mass may not always be correlated (Telenius and Torstensson, 1991).

Seed size differs enormously among plant species with mean masses differing from  $< 10^{-6}$  to  $10^4$ g (Harper, 1977). The availability of resources (i.e., soil moisture levels) is likely to have an impact on seed size and number (Parciak, 2002). There is trade-off between small seeded species vs. large seeded species.

## **5.2 Effect of temperature and light**

Light and temperature markedly influence the seed germination patterns. Temperature may be a single environmental component that has the greatest impact on their germination (Bailly, 2019). Species on sunny, arid slopes of Manang, dry region did not significantly respond to changing temperatures in terms of germination (Liu *et al.*, 2013). In present study, the higher germination percentage was of *Cremanthodium arnicoides* and *Synotis penninervis* from dry region and the lowest was found in *Dubyaea hispida* from moist region at low temperature ( $25/15^{\circ}$ C). Seeds of plants that prefer dry environments are likely capable of sensing the level of moisture in their surroundings, preventing germination in adverse field circumstances (Ludewig *et al.*, 2014). So, plants growing on dry, sunny slopes were less likely to respond favorably to temperature changes (Liu *et al.*, 2013). Generally, warm winter specimens sprouted quickly compared to delayed germination of cold winter collections (Meyer and Monsen, 1991).

In this research, the result of *Cremanthodium arnicoides* and *Synotis penninervis* is similar Liu et al (2013). At low temperature (25/15°C) seeds had higher germination percentage as compared to high temperature because low temperature delays the embryonic activities whereas high temperature destroys the delicate embryo tissue (Macova et al., 2022). In the last phases of seed maturation, high temperatures and increasing moisture stress both reduce the levels of dormancy in wild oat seeds (Naylor, 1983). Temperature influences germination by adjusting dormancy and rapid of germination in non-dormant seeds (Baskin and Baskin, 2014). Effect of temperature in germination of seeds differs among plant species. Senecio coincyi germinated 100% at temperature 25°C (Martinez-Garcia et al., 2012). Two weeds such as Silybum marianum and Avena fatua had higher germination percentage at 25°C. Seeds of Brachycome muelleri couldn't germinate at >20°C temperature (Jusaitis et al., 2004). Seeds of *Chromolaena odorata* had higher germination percentage at optimum temperature 25°C (Ping et al., 2011). Ornamental sunflowers germinated >87% under 15-30°C temperature (Toscano et al., 2017). According to Hu et al., 2015, the seed germination of Ammopiptanthus mongolicus, Glycyrrhiza uralensis, Lespedeza potaninii, and Sophora alopecuroides from the regions of higher and warmer temperatures with low rainfall region, and Vicia amoena, Vicia angustifolia, Vicia sativa and Vicia unijuga from low temperatures regions, having proportionally ample rainfall surroundings suggests that the base mean water potential vary between species but not among regions.

In present study seeds from the moist region germinated better at high temperature. At high temperature (30/20°C) higher germination percentage was found in *Synotis alata* 

and the lowest was in *Synotis penninervis*. Compared to seeds from warm, dry regions, seeds from *Stipa* species grew better in cool, damp environments (Zhang *et al.*, 2020). At greater temperature there is decrease in germination rate (Clavijo and Medina, 2004). High endogenous abscisic acid contents was related with high temperature that inhibit germination (Toyomasu *et al.*, 1993).

At a well define range, germination increased with increase in temperature and then germination decreased with further increase in temperature (Alvarado and Bradford, 2002). Such trend was noticed in the present research. At 25/15°C germination rate was found to be higher but it decreased in further increasing temperature in *Cremanthodium reniforme, Cremanthodium arnicoides* and *Synotis penninervis*. Other species *Dubyaea hispida, Synotis alata* and *Taraxacum eriopodum* germinated greater at high temperature (30/20°C). Heimann and Cussans (1996) also reported that *Circium arvensis* germinated greater at high temperature (25-30°C).

Seeds of many Asteraceae species required light for germination (Galindez *et al.*, 2009). Under 12 h photoperiod conditions seeds were germinated at both low and high temperature. All seeds were non photoblastic. At low temperature (25/15°C) *Cremanthodium arnicoides* and *Synotis penninervis* had similar germination percentage in both photoperiod and dark conditions. Open habitat provides favourable light and warmth for the advanced germination of seeds (Brink *et al.*, 2012). This trend was also found in the present study because seeds from dry habitat germinated well in light condition. Large seeded species have greater germination percentage, emergence or establishment than small seeded species (Dalling *et al.*, 1998). In this research, large seeded species *Cremanthodium arnicoides* obtained greater germination percentage in comparison to small seeded species *Taraxacum eriopodum*. This showed that small seeded species (Milberg *et al.*, 2000). Seed size and seed structure independently influence germination (Zhang, 1993).

Larger seeds have ample food reserves, allowing quick emergence and higher initial seedling size with greater tolerance to shadow, drought and physical destruction (Leishman *et al.*, 2000). Likewise, smaller seeds can also germinate quickly than larger seeds to obtain competitive advantage (Grime *et al.*, 1981). Larger seeds require light to

germinate in the existence of changing temperature (Thompson and Grime, 1983). Several previous studies have also examined the role of light in germination. For example, seeds of *Echinacea purpurea* obtained greater germination percentage when prechilled in light in compared to dark (Li *et al.*, 2007). Seeds of *Artemisia* species had higher germination percentage in light as compared to dark (Li *et al.*, 2012). *Ipomeoa triloba* a weed species can germinate well in both light and dark (Chauhan and Abugho, 2012) but germination of *Leptochloa chinensis* was fully suppressed in the dark (Chauhan and Johnson, 2008). Light is not needed for germination (Chauhan and Johnson, 2009, 2011). In present study, selected plant species had high and nearly equal germination percentage in both dark and photoperiod. According to Baskin and Baskin (1998), many species can germinate to larger percentages in darkness than in light (Koller, 1957; Keren and Evenari, 1974).

At high temperature (30/20°C), *Synotis alata* and *Synotis penninervis* germinated well in light as compared to dark. It meant that those seeds needed light for better germination. Similarly other species such as *Cremanthodium reniforme*, *Dubyaea hispida*, *Cremanthodium arnicoides* and *Taraxacum eriopodum* germinated nearly equal in both photoperiod and dark conditions. It meant that seeds can germinate well in both light and dark condition (Baskin and Baskin, 1998).

## 5.3 Effect of water stress

At low temperature (25/15°C), under high water stress condition ( $\leq$ -0.5 MPa), *Cremanthodium reniforme* and *Dubyaea hispida* had lower germination percentage than other four species. This might be because these two species grows naturally in very moist area. The germination of plant species representing wet regions may be reduced at lower water potentials more than that of plant species from dry regions (Ludewig *et al.*, 2014). This trend was found in the present research because species from moist habitat had lower germination percentage than dry habitat. Seeds of plants that prefer dry environments are likely capable of sensing the level of moisture in their surroundings, preventing germination in adverse field circumstances (Ludewig *et al.*, 2014). We

hypothesized that seeds of species from the dry region (Manang) should have more stress tolerant than those from the wet region (Annapurna Base Camp) and the hypothesis was accepted because, *Cremanthodium arnicoides* germinated up to -0.75MPa water potential, which were collected from dry region indicated that its capacity to tolerant water stress was higher than other five species.

Toscano et al., (2017) reported that hybrid sunflower "Zohar" seeds also germinated at -0.75MPa. Mexican sunflower seeds which tolerate high water stress germinated higher in high temperature and water stress (Wen et al., 2015). Species adapted to harsh surroundings can be less influenced by water stress than these adapted to moist environments (Allen et al., 2000). There was no response to osmotic potential in relation to habitat types (Daws *et al.*, 2008). In different plant species, water stress may delay or reduce seed germination (Zhou et al., 2005). In present study, germination rate was higher at -0.25MPa as compare to other water potential. Seed germination reaction to water potential are species specific (Fenner and Thompson, 2005; Baskin and Baskin, 2014). Effect of water deficiency caused delaying and decrease of seed germination (Alvarado and Bradford, 2002). In present study, there was higher germination percentage of Himalayan wild species at -0.25MPa concentration. Furthermore, comparing between the congeners, Cremanthodium arnicoides germinated better than the Cremanthodium reniforme; similarly Synotis penninervis performed better than the Synotis alata at -0.25 MPa. There was no germination of Cremanthodium reniforme at -0.75Mpa. This indicated that Cremanthodium arnioides and Synotis penninervis could be a better stress tolerant species than its congener species.

When compared to species that are acclimated to wet habitats, species that are adapted to dry conditions may be less sensitive to water stress during germination (Allen *et al.*, 2000). Low water potentials did not encourage the germination of many wetland species, but they did encourage the germination of several dry environment species (Evans and Etherington, 1990). At arid environments, seed germination can be less influenced by water stress than those adjusted to moist environments (Allen *et al.*, 2000). Seed germination of plant species from the wet habitats shows a positive relationship with the seed size as large-seeded species are generally more adaptive to a wide range of environmental conditions (Manasse, 1990).

At high temperature (30/20°C), germination was also better in -0.25MPa as compared to other water potential. *Synotis alata* had higher germination percentage whereas *Synotis penninervis* had lower germination percentage at -0.25MPa. No germination was occured at -0.75 MPa. At high temperature and high water stress *Synotis penninervis* could not germinated well in this study, all species could be tolerant as a moderate level of water stress.

Overall, results of this study suggest that at low temperature *Cremanthodium arnicoides* and *Synotis penninervis* germinated better as compared to other four species. This was evident from a higher germination percentage, higher mean germination time under various environmental conditions such as temperature, moisture, light, radiation and water stress. The results also suggest germination pattern of species may be modified by changing environment at local and regional levels.

#### **CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION**

## **6.1** Conclusion

Among the all six species Cremanthodium arnioides, Synotis penninervis and Taraxacum eriopodum from dry region could be a better stress tolerant species than its congener species. Seed mass was higher in species from dry region than from moist region. Germination was well in both photoperiod and continuous dark conditions. Under different environmental conditions such as photoperiod/continuous dark and high and low temperature, seed germination percentage of species from dry region was greater in low temperature and photoperiod. But in case of water stress only Cremanthodium arnicoides seeds germinated at -0.75MPa and none of the test species there was germinated at -1MPa. The differences in germination among closely related congeneric species reflect seed germination pattern of species found in regions with contrasting environment. Information from germination experiment may serve as the base line for prediction of future distribution and survival of high Himalayan Asteraceae species. Overall the capacity to germinate under wide range of light, temperature and water stress contributed to species adjustment, tolerant and distribution of species. In conclusion the species from dry region could tolerate higher stress in different temperature compared to moist region that meant the set hypothesis of this study is accepted which is species from dry region have higher stress tolerance than species from wet region. The result also suggest that germination pattern of species may be modified by changing environment at local and regional levels.

## **6.2 Recommendation**

Seed germination and seed traits of Himalayan wild species in two different regions are unknown. Additional study will help to determine how Himalayan wild species will adapt to climate change and survive.

#### REFERENCES

Afolayan, A. J., Meyer, J., and Leeuwner, D. V. (1997). Germination in *Helichrysum aureonitens* (Asteraceae): Effects of temperature, light, gibberellic acid, scarification and smoke extract. *South African Journal of Botany*, **63**(1): 22–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0254-6299(15)30687-6</u>

Allen, P.S., Meyer, S.E., and Khan, M.A. (2000). Hydrothermal time as a tool in comparative germination studies. *In Seed Biology*; CABI Publishing: Wallingford, UK 401–410.

Alvarado, V. Y., and Bradford, K. J. (2002). A hydrothermal time model explains the cardinal temperatures for seed germination. *Plant Cell and Environment*, **25**(8): 1061–1069. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.2002.00894.x</u>

Arana, M. V., Gonzalez-Polo, M., Martinez-Meier, A., Gallo, L. A., Benech-Arnold, R.
L., Sánchez, R. A., and Batlla, D. (2015). Seed dormancy responses to temperature relate to *Nothofagus* species distribution and determine temporal patterns of germination across altitudes in Patagonia. *New Phytologist*, **209**(2): 507–520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13606</u>

Bailly, C. (2019). The signalling role of ROS in the regulation of seed germination and<br/>dormancy. *Biochemical Journal*, **476**(20):3019–3032. https://doi.org/10.1042/bcj20190159

Baskin, C. C., and Baskin, J. M. (1998). Seeds: Ecology, biogeography, and evolution of dormancy and germination. Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA.

Baskin, C. C., and Baskin, J. M. (2002). Achene germination ecology of the federally threatenedfFloodplain endemic *Boltonia decurrens* (Asteraceae). *American Midland Naturalist*, **147**(1): 16–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031(2002)147</u>

Baskin, J. M., and Baskin, C. C. (2004). A classification system for seed dormancy. *Seed Science Research*, **14**(1): 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1079/ssr2003150

Baskin, C.C., and Baskin, J. M. (2014). Seeds: ecology, biogeography, and evolution of dormancy and germination: Elsevier/Academic Press

Baskin, C.C., and Baskin, J.M. (2023). Seed dormancy in Asteraceae: a global vegetation zone and taxonomic/phylogenetic assessment. *Seed Science Research*, 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1017/S096025852300010

Bell, K. L., and Bliss, L. C. (1980). Plant reproduction in a high arctic environment. *Arctic and Alpine Research*, **12**(1), 1. doi:10.2307/1550585

Bender, M. H., Baskin, J. M., and Baskin, C. C. (2003). Seed germination ecology of *Polymnia Canadensis* (Asteraceae), a monocarpic species of the North American Temperate Deciduous Forest. *Plant Ecology*, **168**(2): 221–253. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1024437510330

Billings, W. D., and Mooney, H. A. (1968). The ecology of arctic and alpineplants. *Biological Reviews*, 43(4):481–529. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185x.1968.tb00968.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185x.1968.tb00968.x</a>

Bradford, K.J. (2017). Water relations in seed germination. In Seed Development and Germination; Routledge: Oxfordshire, UK 351–396.

Brandel, M. (2004). Dormancy and germination of heteromorphic achenes of *Bidens* frondosa. Flora-Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants, **199**(3): 228-233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1078/0367-2530-00150</u>

Briceno, V. F., Hoyle, G. L., and Nicotra, A. B. (2015). Seeds at risk: How will a changing alpine climate affect regeneration from seeds in alpine areas? *Alpine Botany*, **125**(2): 59–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00035-015-0155-1</u>

Brink, D. T., Hendriksma, H. P., and Bruun, H. H. (2012). Habitat specialization through germination cueing: a comparative study of herbs from forests and open habitats. *Annals of Botany*, **111**(2): 283–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcs253</u>

Bouker, A., Mehdadi, Z., Latreche, A., and Saidi, B. (2022). Seed germination requirements and responses to salinity and water stress of Centaurea *Biology*, **20**(1): 37eriophora. Environmental and *Experimental* 43. https://doi.org/10.22364/eeb.20.04

Braun, L. N., Hottelet, C., Weber, M., and Grabs, W. (1998). Measurement and simulation of runoff from Nepalese head watersheds. *IAHS Publications-Series of Proceedings and Reports-Intern Assoc Hydrological Sciences*, **248**: 9-18.

Carasso, V., Mucciarelli, M., Dovana, F., and Müller, J. V. (2020). Comparative germination ecology of two endemic *Rhaponticum* species (Asteraceae) in different climatic zones of the Ligurian and Maritime Alps (Piedmont, Italy). *Plants*, **9**(6), 708. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9060708</u>

Carta, A., Hanson, S., and Müller, J. V. (2016). Plant regeneration from seeds responds to phylogenetic relatedness and local adaptation in Mediterranean *Romulea* (Iridaceae) species. *Ecology and Evolution*, **6**(12): 4166–4178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2150</u>

Castro, J. (1999). Seed mass versus seedling performance in Scots pine: a maternally dependent trait. *New Phytologist*, **144**(1): 153–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-</u>8137.1999.00495.x

Chalise, P., Paneru, Y.R., and Ghimire, S.K. (2019). Floristic diversity of vascular plants in Gyasumbdo Valley, Lower manang, Central Nepal. *Journal of plant Resources* **17**: 42-57.

Chaudhary, R.P. (1998). Biodiversity in Nepal: Status and Conservation. Craftsman Press, Bankok.

Chauhan, B. S., and Abugho, S. B. (2012). Threelobe Morningglory (*Ipomoea triloba*) germination and response to herbicides. *Weed Science*, **60**(2): 199–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1614/ws-d-11-00137.1</u>

Chauhan, B. S., and Johnson, D. E. (2008). Seed germination and seedling emergence of giant sensitive plant (*Mimosa Invisa*). *Weed Science*, **56**(2): 244–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1614/ws-07-120.1</u>

Chauhan, B. S., and Johnson, D. E. (2009). Seed germination ecology of *Portulaca oleracea*L.: an important weed of rice and upland crops. *Annals of Applied Biology*, **155**(1): 61–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.2009.00320.x</u>

Chauhan, B. S., and Johnson, D. E. (2011). Ecological studies on *Echinochloa crus-galli* and the implications for weed management in direct-seeded rice. *Crop Protection*, **30**(11): 1385–1391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2011.07.013</u>

Chen, H., Cao, M., Baskin, J. M., and Baskin, C. C. (2013). Temperature regulates positively photoblastic seed germination in four *Ficus* (moraceae) tree species from contrasting habitats in a seasonal tropical rainforest. *American Journal of Botany*, **100**(8): 1683–1687. <u>https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1200479</u>

Chhetri, R.,and Bhattarai, P. (2013). Floristic composition and diversity in Upper Manaslu Conservation Area, Central Nepal. *Asian Journal of Conservation Biology*, **2**: 111–121.

Clavijo, J., and Medina, H. (2004). Impact socioeconomic weeds rice cultivation in Colombia. *Comalfi. Journal*, **31**(1): 13-23.

Copeland, L.O., and McDonald, M.B. (2001). *Principles of seed science and technology*. 4th ed. Kluwer Academic, Boston, MA.

Cornwell, W. K., and Ackerly, D. D. (2009). Community assembly and shifts in plant trait distributions across an environmental gradient in coastal California. *Ecological Monographs*, **79**(1): 109–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1134.1</u>

Dalling, J. W., Hubbell, S. P., and Silvera, K. (1998). Seed dispersal, seedling establishment and gap partitioning among tropical pioneer trees. *Journal of Ecology*, **86**(4): 674–689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.1998.00298.x</u>

Daws, M. I., Crabtree, L. M., Dalling, J. W., Mullins, C. E., and Burslem, D. F. R. P. (2008). Germination responses to water potential in Neotropical pioneers suggest large-seeded species take more risks. *Annals of Botany*, **102**(6): 945–951. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcn186</u>

Dobremez, J.F. (1976). Le Nepal: ecologie et biogeographie. Paris: Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique 356p. (*Cahiers Nepalais*)- Illus., col. illus., maps. Icones, Maps. Geog, 6.

DNPWC (2016). Department of National Parks and Wildlife Conservation Area. *Annapurna Conservation Area*. https://dnpwc.gov.np/en/conservation-area-detail/68/

Datta, A., Kühn, I., Ahmad, M., Michalski, S. G., and Auge, H. (2017). Processes affecting altitudinal distribution of invasive *Ageratina adenophora* in western Himalaya: The role of local adaptation and the importance of different life-cycle stages. *PLOS ONE*, **12**(11), e0187708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0187708</u>

Evans, C. E., and Etherington, J. (1990). The effect of soil water potential on seed germination of some British plants. *New Phytologist*, **115**(3): 539–548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1990.tb00482.x</u>

Fenner, M. (1983). Relationships between seed weight, ash content and seedling growth in twenty-four species of Compositae. *New Phytologist*, **95**(4): 697– 706. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1983.tb03533.x

Fenner, M., and Thompson, K. (2005). The ecology of seeds. Cambridge:Cambridge University Press

Foster, S. A., and Janson, C. H. (1985). The relationship between seed size and establishment conditions in tropical woody plants. *Ecology*, **66**(3): 773–780. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1940538</u>

Fu, Z.X., Jiao, B., Nie, B.H., Zhang, G.J., and Gao, T.G. (2016). A comprehensive generic-level phylogeny of the sunflower family: Implications for the systematics of Chinese Asteraceae. *Journal of Systematics and Evolution*, **54**(4): 416–437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jse.12216</u>

Funk, V.A., Bayer, R.J., Keeley, S., Chan, R., Watson, L., Gemeinholzer, B., Schilling,
E., Panero, J.L., Baldwin, B.G., Garcia-Jacas, N., Susanna, A., and Jansen, R.K. (2005).
Everywhere but Antarctica: using a super tree to understand the diversity and distribution of the Compositae. *Biologiske Skrifter* 55: 343–374
http://persoon.si.edu/BDG/pdf/funkyarchive/funkypdf/2005 pr Funk etal Supertree.pdf

Galindez, G., Ortega-Baes, P., Daws, M. I., Sühring, S., Scopel, A. L., and Pritchard, H.
W. (2009). Seed mass and germination in Asteraceae species of Argentina. *Seed Science* and Technology. <u>https://doi.org/10.15258/sst.2009.37.3.27</u>

Graham, E. A., Rundel, P. W., Kaiser, W., Lam, Y., Stealey, M., and Yuen, E. M. (2012). Fine-scale patterns of soil and plant surface temperatures in an alpine fellfield habitat, White Mountains, California. *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, **44**(3): 288–295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1657/1938-4246-44.3.288</u>

Grime, J. P., Mason, G., Curtis, A. V., Rodman, J., and Band, S. R. (1981). A comparative study of germination characteristics in a local flora. *Journal of Ecology*, **69**(3): 1017. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2259651</u>

Gutterman, Y. (1993). Seed germination of desert plants. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany.

Hajra, P.K., Rao, R.R., Singh, D.K., and Uniyal, B.P. (1995). Flora of India. *Botanical Survey of India*, 12:1-454.

Hale, A. N., Imfeld, S., Hart, C., Gribbins, K. M., Yoder, J. A., and Collier, M. H. (2010). Reduced Seed Germination after Pappus Removal in the North American Dandelion (*Taraxacum officinale*; Asteraceae). *Weed Science*, **58**(4): 420–425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1614/ws-d-10-00036.1</u>

Harper, J.L., Lovell, P.H., and Moore, K.G. (1970). The shapes and sizes of seeds. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, **1**(1): 327–356. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.01.110170.001551

Harper, J. L. (1977). The population biology of plants. Academic Press, New York.

Heimann, B., and Cussans, G. W. (1996). The importance of seeds and sexual reproduction in the population biology of *Cirsium arvense* - a literature review. *Weed Research*, **36**(6): 493–503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3180.1996.tb01678.x</u>

Hoyle, G. L., Steadman, K. J., Good, R., McIntosh, E., Galea, L. M. E., and Nicotra, A.
B. (2015). Seed germination strategies: an evolutionary trajectory independent of vegetative functional traits. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00731

Hu, X.W., Fan, Y., Baskin, C. C., Baskin, J. M., andWang, Y.R. (2015). Comparison of the effects of temperature and water potential on seed germination of Fabaceae species from desert and subalpine grassland. *American Journal of Botany*, **102**(5): 649–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1400507</u>

Huang, Z. L., and Gutterman, Y. (1999). Germination of *Artemisia sphaerocephala* (Asteraceae), occurring in the sandy desert areas of Northwest China. *South African Journal of Botany*, **65**(3): 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0254-6299(15)30972-8

Huang, Z., and Gutterman, Y. (2000). Comparison of germination strategies of *Artemisia ordosica* with its two congeners from deserts of China and Israel. *Acta Botanica Sinica*, **42** (1): 71–80.

Hulley, I., Viljoen, A., Tilney, P., Van Vuuren, S., Kamatou, G., and Van Wyk, B. (2010). Ethnobotany, leaf anatomy, essential oil composition and antibacterial activity of *Pteronia onobromoides* (Asteraceae). *South African Journal of Botany*, **76**(1): 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2009.06.012

IBM Corp. (2017). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 25.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.

Jankowska-Blaszczuk, M., and Daws, M. I. (2007). Impact of red: far red ratios on germination of temperate forest herbs in relation to shade tolerance, seed mass and persistence in the soil. *Functional Ecology*, **21**(6): 1055–1062. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01328.x</u>

Jorritsma-Wienk, L. D., Ameloot, E., Lenssen, J.P.M., and De Kroon, H. (2007). Differential responses of germination and seedling establishment in populations of *Tragopogon pratensis* (Asteraceae). *Plant Biology*, **9**(1): 109– 115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-924524</u>

Jurado, E., and Flores, J. (2005). Is seed dormancy under environmental control or bound to plant traits? *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **16**(5): 559– 564. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2005.tb02396.x

Jusaitis, M., Polomka, L., and Sorensen, B. (2004). Habitat specificity, seed germination and experimental translocation of the endangered herb *Brachycome muelleri* (Asteraceae). *Biological Conservation*, **116**(2): 251–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3207(03)00196-4</u>

Karki, R., Talchabhadel, R., Aalto, J., and Baidya, S.K. (2015). New climate classification of Nepal. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, **125**: 799-808. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s0070404=015-1549-0

Keren, A., and Evenari, M. (1974). Some ecological aspects of distribution and germination of *Pancratium maritimum* L. Israel Journal of Botany, **23**: 202–215.

54

Kidson, R., and Westoby, M. (2000). Seed mass and seedling dimensions in relation to seedling establishment. *Oecologia*, **125**(1): 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/pl00008882

Kikuzawa, K., and Koyama, H. (1999). Scaling of soil water absorption by seeds: an experiment using seed analogues. *Seed Science Research*, **9**(2): 171–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0960258599000197</u>

Kildisheva, O. A., Dixon, K. W., Silveira, F.A.O., Chapman, T. T., Di Sacco, A., Mondoni, A., Turner, S. R., and Cross, A. T. (2020). Dormancy and germination: making every seed count in restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, **28**(S3): 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13140</u>

Koller, D. (1957). Germination-regulating mechanisms in some desert seeds, IV.
Atriplex Dimorphostegia Kar. et Kir. *Ecology*, 38(1): 1–
13. https://doi.org/10.2307/1932120

Koller, D. L., Sachs, M., and Negbi, M. (1964). Spectral sensitivity of seed germination
in Artemisia monosperma. Plant and Cell Physiology, 5(1): 79–
84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.pcp.a079026</u>

Körner, C. (2003). Alpine plant life. In *Springer eBooks*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-18970-8</u>

Kumar, R., and Sharma, S. (2012). Effect of light and temperature on seed germination of important medicinal and aromatic plants in North Western Himalayas. *International Journal of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, **2**(3): 468–475.

Lawrence, G.H.M. (1973). Taxonomy of vascular plants. Oxford and IBM Publishing Co., Rakes Press, New Delhi, India.

Leishman, M. R., Westoby, M., and Jurado, E. (1995). Correlates of seed size variation: a comparison among five temperate floras. *Journal of Ecology*, **83**(3): 517-530. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2261604</u>

Leishman, M. R., Wright, I. J., Moles, A. T., and Westoby, M. (2000). The evolutionary ecology of seed size. In *CABI Publishing eBooks* (pp. 31–57). <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/9780851994321.0031</u>

Letchamo, W., and Gosselin, A. (1996). Light, temperature and duration of storage govern the germination and emergence of *Taraxacum officinale* seed. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, **71**(3): 373–377. https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.1996.11515416

Levey, D. J., Bolker, B. M., Tewksbury, J. J., Sargent, S., and Haddad, N. M. (2005). Effects of landscape corridors on seed dispersal by birds. *Science*, **309**(5731): 146–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1111479</u>

Li, P., Wu, H., Geng, S., Wang, X., Lu, W., Yang, Y., Shultz, L.M., Tang, T., and Zhang, N. (2007). Germination and dormancy of seeds in *Echinacea purpurea* (L.) Moench (Asteraceae). *Seed Science and Technology*, **35**(1): 9–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.15258/sst.2007.35.1.02</u>

Li, X., Jiang, D., Alamusa, Q.Z., and Oshida, T. (2012). Comparison of seed germination of four *Artemisia* species (Asteraceae) in northeastern Inner Mongolia, China. *Journal of Arid Land*, **4**(1): 36–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.3724/sp.j.1227.2012.00036</u>

Liang, Q. L., Xu, X. T., Mao, K. S., Wang, M. C., Wang, K., Xi, Z. X., and Liu, J.Q. (2018). Shifts in plant distributions in response to climate warming in a biodiversity hotspot, the Hengduan Mountains. *Journal of Biogeography*, **45**(6): 1334–1344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.13229</u>

Liu, L.H., Xie, S.C., and Zhang, J.H. (1985). Studies on the distribution, harmfulness and control of *Eupatorium adenophorum*. *Acta Ecologica Sinica*, **5**(1): 1-6.

Liu, K., Baskin, J. M., Baskin, C. C., Bu, H., Du, G., and Ma, M. (2013). Effect of diurnal fluctuating versus constant temperatures on germination of 445 species from the Eastern Tibet Plateau. *PLOS ONE*, **8**(7): e69364. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069364

Ludewig, K., Zelle, B., Eckstein, R. L., Mosner, E., Otte, A., and Donath, T. W. (2014). Differential effects of reduced water potential on the germination of floodplain grassland species indicative of wet and dry habitats. *Seed Science Research*, **24**(1): 49–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s096025851300038x</u>

Luo, J., and Cardina, J. (2012). Germination patterns and implications for invasiveness in three *Taraxacum* (Asteraceae) species. *Weed Research*, **52**(2): 112–121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3180.2011.00898.x</u>

Macova, K., Prabhullachandran, U., Stefkova, M., Spyroglou, I., Pencik, A., Endlova, L., Novak, O., and Robert, H. S. (2022). Long-Term High-Temperature Stress Impacts on Embryo and Seed Development in *Brassica napus*. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.844292

Manasse, R. S. (1990). Seed Size and Habitat Effects on the Water-Dispersed Perennial, *Crinum erubescens* (Amaryllidaceae). *American Journal of Botany*, 77(10):
1336. https://doi.org/10.2307/2444594

Martinez-Garcia, F., Guerrero-Garcia, S., and Perez-Garcia, F. (2012). Evaluation of reproductive success and conservation strategies for *Senecio coincyi* (Asteraceae), a narrow and threatened species. *Australian Journal of Botany*, **60**(6): 517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/bt12109</u>

Mandel, J.R., Dikow, R.B., Siniscalchi, C.M., Thapa, R., Watson, L.E., and Funk, V.A. (2019). A fully resolved backbone phylogeny reveals numerous dispersals and explosive diversifications throughout the history of Asteraceae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **116**, 14083014088

Mattana, E., Daws, M. I., and Bacchetta, G. (2009). Seed dormancy and germination ecology of *Lamyropsis microcephala*: a mountain endemic species of Sardinia (Italy). *Seed Science and Technology*, **37**(2): 491– 497. <u>https://doi.org/10.15258/sst.2009.37.2.24</u> Mazer, S. J. (1989). Ecological, taxonomic, and life history correlates of seed mass among Indiana dune angiosperms. *Ecological Monographs*, **59**(2): 153–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2937284</u>

Meyer, S.E., and Monsen, S.B. (1991). Habitat-correlated variation in mountain big sagebrush (*Artemisia tridentata* ssp. Vaseyana) seed germination patterns. *Ecology*, **72**(2): 739-742.

Michel, B. E., and Kaufmann, M. R. (1973). The osmotic potential of Polyethylene Glycol 6000. *Plant Physiology*, **51**(5): 914–916. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.51.5.914</u>

Milberg, P., Andersson, L., and Thompson, K. L. (2000). Large-seeded spices are less dependent on light for germination than small-seeded ones. *Seed Science Research*, **10**(1): 99–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0960258500000118</u>

Monemizadeh, Z., Ghaderi-Far, F., Sadeghipour, H. R., Siahmarguee, A., Soltani, E., Torabi, B., and Baskin, C. C. (2021). Variation in seed dormancy and germination among populations of *Silybum marianum* (Asteraceae). *Plant Species Biology*, **36**(3): 412–424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1442-1984.12326</u>

<u>Munish, Sharma.</u>, Navneet, Bithel., and Munit, Sharma. (2022). Ethnobotany, Phytochemistry, Pharmacology and Nutritional Potential of Medicinal Plants from Asteraceae Family. *Journal of Mountain Resources*, **17**(2): 67-83. https://doi.org/10.51220/jmr.v17i2.7

Naylor, J. M. (1983). Studies on the genetic control of some physiological processes in seeds. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **61**(12): 3561–3567. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/b83-405</u>

Neckar, K., Brant, V., Necasova, M., Novakova, K., and Vencova, V. (2008). Germination of weed species from Asteraceae family under water deficit conditions. *Journal of plant diseases and protection* **21**:271-276.

Norden, N., Daws, M. I., Antoine, C., Gonzalez, M.A., Garwood, N. C., and Chave, J. (2009). The relationship between seed mass and mean time to germination for 1037 tree
Palazzesi, L., Pellicer, J., Barreda, V.D., Loeuille, B., Mandel, J.R., Pokorny, L., Siniscalchi, C.M., Tellería, M.C., Leitch, I.J., and Hidalgo, O. (2022). Asteraceae as a model system for evolutionary studies: from fossils to genomes. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society* **200**: 143–164

Parciak, W. (2002). Environmental variation in seed number, size, and dispersal of afleshy-fruitedplant. *Ecology*, 83(3):780–793. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-">https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-</a>9658(2002)083

Pearson, T.R.H., Burslem, D. F. R. P., Mullins, C. E., and Dalling, J. W. (2002). Germination ecology of neotropical pioneers: interacting effects of environmental conditions and seed size. *Ecology*, **83**(10): 2798–2807. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083</u>

Ping, L., Yamei, B., Tongyu, X., and Tianzhu, L. (2011). Effects of environmental factors on germination and emergence of Siam Weed (*Chromolaena odorata*). *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, **10**: 1741–1746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proenv.2011.09.273</u>

Poschlod, P., Abedi, M., Bartelheimer, M., Drobnik, J., Rosbakh, S., and Saatkamp, A. (2013). Seed ecology and assembly rules in plant communities. In *John Wiley & Sons, Ltd eBooks* (pp. 164–202). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118452592.ch6</u>

Redondo, S., Rubio-Casal, A. E., Castillo, J. M., Luque, C., Alvarez, A. A., Luque, T., and Figueroa, M. (2004). Influences of salinity and light on germination of three *Sarcocornia* taxa with contrasted habitats. *Aquatic Botany*, **78**(3): 255–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2003.11.002</u>

Rees, M. (1994). Delayed germination of seeds: a look at the effects of adult longevity, the timing of reproduction, and population age/stage structure. *The American Naturalist*, **144**(1): 43–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/285660</u>

Rockwood, L. L. (1985). Seed weight as a function of life form, elevation and life zone in neotropical forests. *Biotropica*, **17**(1): 32. https://doi.org/10.2307/2388375

Sayers, R. L., and Ward, R. T. (1966). Germination Responses in Alpine Species. *Botanical Gazette*, **127**(1): 11–16. doi:10.1086/336337

Schwienbacher, E., Navarro-Cano, J.A., Neuner, G., and Erschbamer, B. (2011). Seed dormancy in alpine species. *Flora-Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants*, **206**(10): 845–856. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.flora.2011.05.001</u>

Shimono, Y., and Kudo, G. (2005). Comparisons of germination traits of alpine plants between fellfield and snowbed habitats. *Ecological Research*, **20**(2): 189–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-004-0031-8</u>

Shrestha, K.K., Bhandari, P., and Bhattarai, S. (2022). *Plants of Nepal (Gymnosperms and Angiosperms)*. Heritage Publishers and Distributors Pvt. Ltd. Kathmandu.

Smith-Jochum, C., and Ml, Albrecht. (1987). Field establishment of three *Echinacea* species for commercial production. *Acta Horticulturae*, **208**: 115–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.17660/actahortic.1987.208.13</u>

Sultan, S. E., and Bazzaz, F. A. (1993). Phenotypic plasticity in *Polygonum persicaria*. I. diversity and uniformity in genotypic norms of reaction to light. *Evolution*, **47**(4): 1009. https://doi.org/10.2307/2409972

Telenius, A., and Torstensson, P. (1991). Seed wings in relation to seed size in the genus *Spergularia*. *Oikos*, **61**(2): 216. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3545339</u>

Toscano, S., Romano, D. M., Tribulato, A., and Patanè, C. (2017). Effects of drought stress on seed germination of ornamental sunflowers. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, **39**(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-017-2484-8</u>

Toyomasu, T., Tsuji, H., Yamane, H., Nakayama, M., Yamaguchi, I., Murofushi, N., Takahashi, N., and Inoue, Y. (1993). Light effects on endogenous levels of gibberellins in photoblastic lettuce seeds. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation*, **12**(2): 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00193238

Thompson, K. L., and Grime, J. P. (1983). A comparative study of germination responses to diurnally-fluctuating temperatures. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **20**(1): 141-156. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2403382</u>

Tudela-Isanta, M., Fernández-Pascual, E., Wijayasinghe, M., Orsenigo, S., Rossi, G., Pritchard, H. W., and Mondoni, A. (2017). Habitat-related seed germination traits in alpine habitats. *Ecology and Evolution*, **8**(1): 150–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3539</u>

Ulian, T., Mattana, E., Pritchard, H. W., and Skwierinski, R. M. (2013). Seasonality effects on plant phenology and seed ecology in *Oritrophium peruvianum* (Asteraceae), a threatened tropical alpine species. *South African Journal of Botany*, **88**: 278–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2013.08.006

Valencia-Diaz, S., and Montana, C. (2005). Temporal variability in the maternal environment and its effect on seed size and seed quality in *Flourensia cernua* DC. (Asteraceae). *Journal of Arid Environments*, **63**(4): 686–695. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2005.03.024</u>

Van Molken, T., Jorritsma-Wienk, L. D., Van Hoek, P., and De Kroon, H. (2005). Only seed size matters for germination in different populations of the dimorphic *Tragopogon pratensis* subsp. pratensis (Asteraceae). *American Journal of Botany*, **92**(3): 432–437. <u>https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.92.3.432</u>

Walck, J. L., Hidayati, S. N., Dixon, K. W., Thompson, K., and Poschlod, P. (2011). Climate change and plant regeneration from seed. *Global Change Biology*, **17**(6): 2145–2161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02368.x</u>

Wartidiningsih, N., and Geneve, R. L. (1994). Seed source and quality influence germination in purple coneflower [*Echinacea purpurea* (L.) Moench.]. *American Society* 

Wen, B. (2015). Effects of high temperature and water stress on seed germination of theinvasivespeciesMexicansunflower.PLOSONE,10(10):e0141567. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141567">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141567</a>

Westgate, M. E., J. R. Schussler, D. C. Reicosky, and M. L. Brenner. (1989). Effect of water deficits on seed development in soybean: II. Conservation of seed growth rate. *Plant Physiology*, **91**:980–985

Yuan, X., and Wen, B. (2018). Seed germination response to high temperature and water stress in three invasive Asteraceae weeds from Xishuangbanna, SW China. *PLOS ONE*, **13**(1): e0191710. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191710

Zarghani, H., Mijani, S., Nasrabadi, S. E., Ghias-Abadi, M., Khorramdel, S., and Azimi, R. (2014). Temperature effects on the seed germination of some perennial and annual species of Asteraceae family. *Plant Breeding and Seed Science*, **69**(1): 3–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/plass-2015-0001</u>

Zhang, J. (1993). Seed dimorphism in relation to germination and growth of *Cakile edentula*. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **71**(9): 1231–1235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/b93-145</u>

Zhang, C., Willis, C. E., Burghardt, L. T., Qi, W., Liu, K., De Moura Souza-Filho, P. R., Ma, Z., and Du, G. (2014). The community-level effect of light on germination timing in relation to seed mass: a source of regeneration niche differentiation. *New Phytologist*, **204**(3): 496–506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12955</u>

Zhang, K., Yao, L., Zhang, Y., and Tao, J. (2019). Achene heteromorphism in *Bidens pilosa* (Asteraceae): differences in germination and possible adaptive significance. *Aob Plants***11**(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aobpla/plz026</u>

Zhang, R., Luo, K. H., Chen, D., Baskin, J. M., Baskin, C. C., Wang, Y., and Hu, X. (2020). Comparison of thermal and hydrotime requirements for seed germination of seven *Stipa* species from cool and warm habitats. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.560714

Zhou, J.K., Deckard, E. L., and Ahrens, W. H. (2005). Factors affecting germination of hairy nightshade (*Solanum sarrachoides*) seeds. *Weed Science*, **53**(1): 41–45. https://doi.org/10.1614/ws-04-100r

## **APPENDICES**

**Appendix 1**: Germination percentage at photoperiod and continuous dark at low temperature (25/15°C)

Species	Photoperiod	Dark
Cremanthodium reniforme	21.8±2.16 <sup>BC</sup>	20±2 <sup>X</sup>
Dubyaea hispida	18.8±4.15 <sup>AB</sup>	17.6±6.35 <sup>X</sup>
Synotis alata	23.8±1.92 <sup>*C</sup>	12±5.96 <sup>*Y</sup>
Cremanthodium arnicoides	29.2±1.09 <sup>a</sup>	29±0.71 <sup>y</sup>
Synotis penninervis	28±1 <sup>a</sup>	28.4±1.14 <sup>y</sup>
Taraxacum eriopodum	21.8±3.35 <sup>b</sup>	22.4±3.21 <sup>z</sup>

Note: \* represents significant difference (p<0.05).

**Appendix 2**: Germination percentage at photoperiod and continuous dark at high temperature (30/20°C)

Species	Photoperiod	Dark
Cremanthodium reniforme	20.8±2.05 <sup>A</sup>	21.2±2.77 <sup>x</sup>
Dubyaea hispida	23.8±1.30 <sup>A</sup>	22±3.08 <sup>x</sup>
Synotis alata	27.6±1.14 <sup>*B</sup>	$20\pm6.40^{*X}$
Cremanthodium arnicoides	$24\pm2^{a}$	21.6±3.51 <sup>y</sup>
Synotis penninervis	20.6±2.07 <sup>*a</sup>	10.8±4.92 <sup>*z</sup>
Taraxacum eriopodum	22.2±2.94 <sup>a</sup>	22.4±2.30 <sup>y</sup>

Note: \* represents significant difference (p<0.05)

**Appendix 3**: Germination percentage at low temperature (25/15°C) and at high temperature (30/20°C)

Species	Low temperature	High temperature
Cremanthodium reniforme	21.8±2.16 <sup>AB</sup>	20.8±2.05 <sup>Z</sup>
Dubyaea hispida	18.8±4.15 <sup>B</sup>	23.8±1.30 <sup>Y</sup>
Synotis alata	$23.8 \pm 1.92^{A}$	27.6±1.14 <sup>x</sup>
Cremanthodium arnicoides	29.2±1.09 <sup>a</sup>	24±2 <sup>y</sup>
Synotis penninervis	$28\pm1^{a}$	20.6±2.07 <sup>y</sup>
Taraxacum eriopodum	21.8±3.35 <sup>b</sup>	22.2±2.94 <sup>y</sup>

Note: Alphabet represents significant difference (p<0.05).

**Appendix 4**: Mean germination time at low temperature  $(25/15^{\circ}C)$  and at high temperature  $(30/20^{\circ}C)$ 

Species	Low temperature	High temperature
Cremanthodium reniforme	8.89±0.34 <sup>A</sup>	8.93±0.41 <sup>x</sup>
Dubyaea hispida	7.36±0.62 <sup>B</sup>	5.77±0.14 <sup>z</sup>
Synotis alata	$6.49 \pm 0.21^{\circ}$	$6.97 \pm 0.11^{ m Y}$
Cremanthodium arnicoides	7.12±0.33 <sup>b</sup>	8.21±0.45 <sup>y</sup>
Synotis penninervis	7.54±0.21 <sup>a</sup>	10.36±0.53 <sup>x</sup>
Taraxacum eriopodum	4.23±0.18 <sup>c</sup>	4.87±0.22 <sup>z</sup>

Note: Alphabet represents significant difference (p<0.05).

Species	Low temperature	High temperature
Cremanthodium reniforme	369.3±24.3 <sup>B</sup>	422.6±65.4 <sup>Y</sup>
Dubyaea hispida	412±74.9 <sup>B</sup>	732±48.8 <sup>x</sup>
Synotis alata	595.3±56.1 <sup>A</sup>	738.6±39.9 <sup>X</sup>
Cremanthodium arnicoides	766.6±27.3 <sup>a</sup>	545.3±80.3 <sup>y</sup>
Synotis penninervis	696.7±40.5 <sup>a</sup>	$318\pm42.4^{z}$
Taraxacum eriopodum	783.3±129.8 <sup>a</sup>	750±106.7 <sup>x</sup>

**Appendix 5**: Timson's Index at low temperature  $(25/15^{\circ}C)$  and at high temperature  $(30/20^{\circ}C)$ 

Note: Alphabet represents significant difference (p<0.05).

Species				Water		
				potential		
		0	-0.1	-0.25	-0.5	-0.75
Cremanthodum	GP	21.8±2.16	23.2±1.30	24.8±1.92	13.4±4.92*	0
reniforme	MGT	8.89±0.33	9.12±0.14	9.23±0.36	10.94±0.36 <sup>*</sup>	0
	TI	369.33±24	378±17.09	393.99±37	137.33±52.6*	0
Dubyaea	GP	18.8±4.15	18±5.15	26±2*	10.6±5.89 <sup>*</sup>	0
hispida	MGT	7.36±0.62	7.70±0.39	8.83±0.53*	10.36±1*	0
	TI	412±75	374.66±101	447.33±56.78	116±51.98 <sup>*</sup>	0
Synotis alata	GP	23.8±1.9	23.6±2.96	24.4±2.19	23.4±1.52	0
	MGT	6.49±0.2	6.46±0.23	$7.28 \pm 0.35^{*}$	9.68±0.4*	0
	TI	595.3±56	593.34±81	547±51.23	336.6±37*	0
Cremanthodium	GP	29.2±1.1	28.4±1.51	28.6±1.34	22.2±5.2*	4.2±1.6 <sup>*</sup>
arnicoides	MGT	7.12±0.3	7.23±0.34	7.69±0.52	$10.1 \pm 0.8^{*}$	$14\pm0^{*}$
	TI	766.6±27	729.3±36.3	696±54.95*	368±123*	14±5.5*
Synotis	GP	28±1	28.6±1.14	29.2±0.84	22.4±2.6*	0
penninervis	MGT	7.54±0.2	7.64±0.41	8.07±0.30*	11.3±0.4*	0
	TI	696.6±40	702.6±61.7	674±41.86	279.3±42*	0
Taraxacum	GP	21.8±3.4	22.4±4.56	23.6±2.51	21.4±1.14	0
eriopodum	MGT	4.23±0.2	4.31±0.22	$5.24 \pm 0.25^{*}$	7.31±0.5*	0
	TI	783±123	799±167.28	768±84.35	549±59.6 <sup>*</sup>	0

**Appendix 6**: Germination percent (GP), Mean Germination Time (MGT), Timson's Index (TI) (Mean  $\pm$  S.E.) at different water potentials at low temperature (25/15°C)

Note: \* represents significant difference (p<0.05).

Species				Water		
				potential		
		0	-0.1	-0.25	-0.5	-0.75
Cremanthodium	GP	20.8±2.05	19.4±2.88	22.2±2.05	15.2±3.96 <sup>*</sup>	0
reniforme	MGT	8.92±0.41	8.96±0.66	9.14±0.57	11.08±0.57*	0
	TI	422.6±65.4	392.66±90	431.33±36	199.33±57 <sup>*</sup>	0
Dubyaea	GP	23.8±1.30	25.2±2.58	22.4±1.52	10.6±5.02*	0
hispida	MGT	5.77±0.13	5.34±0.37*	6.22±0.18 <sup>*</sup>	9.03±0.52*	0
	TI	732±48.85	809.33±61	655.33±36*	206±86*	
Synotis alata	GP	27.6±1.14	20.8±2.48 <sup>*</sup>	25.8±1.09*	12.6±3.84*	0
	MGT	6.97±0.11	7.16±0.44	7.65±0.23 <sup>*</sup>	9.59±0.67 <sup>*</sup>	0
	TI	738.66±40	542.66±70*	632±42.79*	224±64.22*	0
Cremanthodium	GP	24±2	21.8±3.03	23±1	8.2±2.94 <sup>*</sup>	0
arnicoides	MGT	8.2±0.45	8.92±0.25*	9.2±0.51*	9.67±0.67*	0
	TI	545.34±80	442±67.52	445±52.41 <sup>*</sup>	142±42*	0
Synotis	GP	20.6±2.07	16.2±5.11	13.8±3.89 <sup>*</sup>	2.2±2.04*	0
penninervis	MGT	10.35±0.53	10.85±0.73	11.24±0.45*	13.8±0.17	0
	TI	318±42.39	222.66±71*	172.66±56*	14.44±1.92 <sup>*</sup>	0
Taraxacum	GP	22.2±2.94	22±2.23	18.8±2.48	10±1.22*	0
eriopodum	MGT	4.87±0.22	4.98±0.51	6.02±0.66*	6.36±0.31*	0
	TI	750±107	737.33±110	565.33±37*	288±39.55*	0

**Appendix 7**: Germination percent (GP), Mean Germination Time (MGT), Timson's Index (TI) (Mean  $\pm$  S.E.) at different water potentials at high temperature (30/20°C)

Note: \* represents significant difference (p<0.05).



Germination of seeds under 12hrs photoperiod Germination of seeds under complete dark



Germination of seeds under 12hrs photoperiod

Germination of seeds under complete dark



विषयः <u>अध्ययन अनुमति सम्बन्धमा ।</u>

श्री अन्नपूर्ण संरक्षण क्षेत्र आयोजना, हरियोखर्क, पोखरा ।

🗸 प्रस्तुत विषयमा तहाँ संरक्षण क्षेत्रमा निम्नानुसारको अध्ययन अनुसन्धान अनुमति प्रदान गरिएको व्यहोरा निर्देशनानुसार अनुरोध छ ।

अनसन्धानकर्ताको नाम	Bharat Babu Shrestha			
रेगाना	शहिद लखन थापा	इमेलः Shresthabb@gmail.com	फान न. ९८४५२४५४५४	
O MI M	गाउँपालिका-०९, गोर्खा	0.00	7	
समद्भ संस्था	वनस्पतिशास्त्र केन्द्रीय विभाग, नि	त्रेभुवन विश्वविद्यालय, किर्तिपुर, काठम	ण्डा ।	
अनसन्धानको प्रकृती	व्यक्तिगत			
पद	सह-प्रध्यापक			
अनुसन्धानको तह	राष्ट्रिय स्तर			
अनुसन्धानको शिर्षक	Impact of climate change on	germination, growth, pointation a		
	medicinal herbs Acontum spic	नमना संकलन	नमुना परिक्षण कहाँ गर्ने	
अनुसन्धान विधि	Transplant Experiment in field	गर्ने	नेपालमा	
		पन २०८० (टर्ट बर्ष)		
अनुसन्धानको अविध	२० भाद्र २०७८ दाख ५९ भ	119 4050 192 411		

१.अनुसन्धानकर्ताले राष्ट्रिय निकुञ्ज तथा वन्यजन्तु संरक्षण ऐन, २०२९ र नियमावली, २०३० तथा मातहतका सवै शते : नियमावलीहरुको पूर्ण पालना गर्नु पर्नेछ ।

२. अध्ययन गर्दा सम्बन्धित संरक्षित क्षेत्र कार्यालयसंग समन्वय गरी कार्यालयमा कार्यरत कर्मचारीको रोहबरमा गर्नु पर्ने पर्नेछ ।

३. अनुसन्धानकर्ताले आफ्नो अनुसन्धानको प्रस्ताव सम्बन्धित संरक्षित क्षेत्र कार्यालयमा समेत पेश गर्नु पर्नेछ ।

४.अनुसन्धानकर्ताले अनुसन्धान समाप्त भएपछि प्राप्त तथ्याङ्क, एक प्रति कागजी प्रतिवेदन र एक प्रति इलोक्ट्रोनिक प्रतिवेदन यस विभाग र सम्बन्धित संरक्षित क्षेत्र कार्यालयमा बुझाउनु पर्नेछ ।

५. अनुसन्धानकर्ताले नतिजाहरू प्रकाशित गर्दा अनुसन्धानमा संलग्न यस विभाग र अन्तरगतका कर्मचारीको योगदानको आधारमा सहलेखकको रूपमा समावेश गराउनु पर्नेछ ।

६. सङ्कलित नमुना विदेश लैजान पाईने छैन ।

७. तोकिएका शर्तहरुको पालना नगरेमा विभागले कुनैपनि समयमा अनुमतिपत्र रद्द गर्न सक्नेछ ।

सहायक इकोलोजिष्ट

श्री Bharat Babu Shrestha: सम्बन्धित संरक्षित क्षेत्र कार्यालयसंग समन्वय गरी अध्ययन अनुसन्धान गर्नु हुन र अनुसन्धान समाप्त भएपछि एक प्रति कागजी तथा विद्युतीय प्रतिवेदन सम्बन्धित कार्यालय र विभागमा वुझाउनु हुन अनुरोध छ । श्री अन्नपूर्ण संरक्षण क्षेत्र सम्पर्क अधिकारीको कार्यालय: जानकारीको लागि अनुरोध छ । वनस्पतिशास्त्र केन्द्रीय विभाग, त्रि.विः जानकारीको लागि अनुरोध छ ।



1

## NATIONAL TRUST FOR NATURE CONSERVATION ANNAPURNA CONSERVATION AREA PROJECT



Date: 2078-05-30

Headquarters, Pokhara Headquarters, Pokhara

Ref: SO /078/079

Dr. Bharat Babu Shrestha Associate Professor Central Department of Botany TU, Kathmandu

## Re: Permission to conduct research in Annapurna Conservation Area

We received your request letter regarding permission to conduct research on **"Impact of climate change on germination, growth, pollination, and distribution of Himalayan medicinal herbs** *Aconitum spicatum and A. naviculare*". You have been given permission to carry out your field research in ACA with the following terms and conditions.

- 1. The research must be for scientific and academic purpose with the aim of making contribution in conservation and development of conservation area.
- 2. This permission will be valid up to August 31, 2023 (2080 Bhadra 14).
- 3. You have to follow the ACAP Minimum Impact Code and the Conservation Area Management Regulation 2053.
- 4. You have to follow the terms and conditions mentioned in the research permit provided by Department of National Park and wildlife Conservation.
- 5. You are allowed to collect sample only from the study area.
- 6. You will have access to the NTNC-ACAP Resource Library in Pokhara.
- 7. Upon the completion of the research, you must submit a hard copy and digital copy of your report to the NTNC-ACAP Headquarters, Pokhara.
- 8. You have to **coordinate with ACAP Unit Conservation Offices** while performing your field research work.
- 9. You and your research team have to strictly follow all rules, guidelines and social norms to keep in safety from COVID-19 while doing your fields work.
- 10. Any dispute arose during the execution periods will be solved by mutual understanding.
- 11. Any unsolved disputes will be handled as per the existing law of Nepal government.

Thank you and wish you all the best.

Raj Kumar Gurung Project Chief

CC: NTNC-ACAP Unit Conservation Office Ghandruk / Lwang / Manang / Jomsom / Lomanthang

Central Office : P.O. Box 3712 Khumaltar, Lalitpur, Nepal Tel. No. : 00977-1-5526571, 5526573 Fax : 00977-1-5526570 Website: www.ntnc.org.np Headquarters : P.O. Box 183 Pokhara, Kaski, Nepal Tel. No. : 00977-61-431102, 430802, 432288 Fax No. : 00977-61-431203 E-mail : info@acap.org.np